From the Department of Oncology and Pathology Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS OF LONG NON-CODING RNAS IN CANCER

Linda Vidarsdottir



Stockholm 2017

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Eprint AB 2017/18 © Linda Vidarsdottir, 2017

ISBN 978-91-7676-875-4

Functional analysis of long non-coding RNAs in cancer THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Linda Vidarsdottir

Principal Supervisor: Dan Grandér Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology

Co-supervisors: Per Johnsson Karolinska Institutet Department of Cell and Molecular Biology

Weng-Onn Lui Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology

Acting Principal Supervisor: Katja Pokrovskaja Tamm Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology *Opponent:* Anders H. Lund University of Copenhagen Biotech Research and Innovation Centre

Examination Board: Gonçalo Castelo-Branco Karolinska Institutet Department of Medical Biochemistry and Biophysics

Neus Visa Stockholm University Department of Molecular Biosciences

Ola Larsson Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology

Til Kristínar Emilíu og Benjamíns Hrafns

ABSTRACT

For years the functional role of noncoding RNAs was greatly underestimated. Whole genome RNA sequencing projects that unraveled pervasive transcription emitting from large parts of the human genome changed those perspectives and prompted scientists to further look into the involvement of noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) in development and disease. To date, we have significantly advanced our understanding of ncRNAs, however only a fraction of them has been functionally characterized. The subject of this thesis is to investigate the functional role of long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) and their involvement in cancer, particularly in cutaneous malignant melanoma.

Previously, the tumor suppressor gene *PTEN* has been reported to be post-transcriptionally regulated by its pseudogene. In **paper I**, we investigated an antisense RNA (*PTENpg1 asRNA*) that is transcribed from the *PTEN* pseudogene (*PTENpg1*). We uncovered various *PTENpg1 asRNA* isoforms and designated two of them as α and β . The role of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* isoform is to form an RNA:RNA duplex with the *PTENpg1* transcript. This interaction stabilizes and assists the *PTENpg1* transcript out to the cytoplasm. On the other hand, the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α has a very different function, namely mediating epigenetic changes by recruiting EZH2 and DNMT3a to the *PTEN* promoter.

In **paper II**, we further sought out to understand the recruitment of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α to the *PTEN* promoter. We observed promoter-associated/5'UTR transcript emitting from *PTEN*, which binds and facilitates the recruitment of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α to the *PTEN* promoter. In return, *PTENpg1 asRNA* recruits DNMT3a to the promoter, which leads to epigenetic silencing of *PTEN*.

In **paper III** we investigated the role of *PTENpg1 asRNA* in vemurafenib resistance of melanoma. We observed increased *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression and consequently low PTEN levels caused by enrichment of EZH2 and H3K27me3 at the *PTEN* promoter. Further, we found that C/EBP β transcriptionally induced *PTENpg1 asRNA* in vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cell lines. In addition, manipulation of key components of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network caused re-sensitization of the resistant melanoma cells to vemurafenib, and high *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression was found to correlate with shorter survival in melanoma patients.

In **paper IV**, we investigated the effect of the *C/EBP* β antisense (*C/EBP* β -*AS*) transcript on transcriptional regulation of C/EBP β . We found that C/EBP β auto-regulates its own and also regulates *C/EBP\beta-AS* expression. In return, *C/EBP\beta-AS* inhibits C/EBP β positive feedback loop by modulating epigenetic changes at the *C/EBP\beta* promoter in melanoma cell lines. Interestingly, knockdown of *C/EBP\beta-AS* caused re-sensitization to vemurafenib.

This thesis highlights the dynamics of lncRNAs in epigenetic silencing and their involvement in cancer and therapy resistance.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Johnsson P, Ackley A*, Vidarsdottir L*, Lui WO, Corcoran M, Grandér D, Morris KV. A pseudogene long-noncoding-RNA network regulates *PTEN* transcription and translation in human cells. *Nature structural & molecular biology* 2013 Apr; 20(4): 440–446.
- II. Lister N*, Shevchenko G*, Walshe JL, Groen J, Johnsson P, Vidarsdóttir L, Grandér D, Ataide SF, Morris KV. The molecular dynamics of long noncoding RNA control of transcription in PTEN and its pseudogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2017 Sep 12; 114(37): 9942-9947
- III. Vidarsdottir L, Azimi A, Rahmanto AS, Petri A, Kauppinen S, Ingvar C, Jönsson G, Olsson H, Stolt MF, Tuominen R, Sangfelt O, Hansson J, Egyházi-Brage S, Grandér D, Johnsson P. *PTENpg1* antisense RNA mediates *PTEN* suppression in vemurafenib resistance and predicts clinical outcome in melanoma patients. Manuscript.
- IV. Vidarsdottir L, Fernandes R, Zachariadis V, Das I, Edsbäcker E, Azimi A, Hansson J, Egyházi-Brage S, Johnsson P, Grandér D. C/EBPβ-AS inhibits transcription of C/EBPβ through a negative feedback loop. Manuscript.

* Equal contribution

CONTENTS

Introduct	tion		1	
Backgro	und		2	
1.1	Cancer		3	
	1.1.1	Cutaneous malignant melanoma	4	
	1.1.2	LncRNA in melanoma	4	
1.2	Tumor suppressior genes and oncogenes		5	
	1.2.1	PTEN	6	
	1.2.2	BRAF	7	
	1.2.3	С/ЕВРβ	9	
1.3	noncoding RNA		10	
	1.3.1	Long noncoding RNA	10	
	1.3.2	Cis-acting lncRNA with focus on antisense RNA	12	
	1.3.3	Trans-acting lncRNA	15	
	1.3.4	Short ncRNA	16	
	1.3.5	Promoter associated RNA	17	
1.4	Pseudogenes			
	1.4.1	Pseudogenes as competitive endogenous RNA	19	
	1.4.2	Antisense transcription from pseudogenes		
	1.4.3	Pseudogenes: source for endo-siRNA	20	
1.5	Epiger	netics- a lncRNA perspective	21	
Aims of this thesis				
Results and discussions				
1.6	Paper	Ι		
	1.6.1	Rational		
	1.6.2	Main findings and discussions		
1.7	Paper II			
	1.7.1	Rational		
	1.7.2	Main findings and discussions		
1.8	Paper III			
	1.8.1	Rational		
	1.8.2	Main findings and discussions		
1.9	Paper IV			
	1.9.1	Rational		
	1.9.2	Main findings and discussions		
Concluding remarks				
Acknow	ledgeme	ents		
Referenc	es			

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGO	Argonaute
АКТ	Protein kinase B
AIRN	Antisense of insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor non-protein coding RNA
asRNA	Antisense RNA
bp	Base pair
BRAF	V-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B
bZIP	Basic leucine zipper protein
C/EBPBa	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha
CAGE	Cap-analysis of gene expression
CBX4	Chromobox homolog 4
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
СММ	Cutaneous malignant melanoma
CTCF	CCCTC-binding factor
EED	Embryonic ectoderm development
ENCODE	Encyclopedia of DNA elements
Endo-siRNA	Endogenous small interfering RNAs
ES	Embryonic stem
EST	Expressed sequence tags
exRNA	Extracellular RNA
EZH2	Enhancer of zeste homolog 2
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FANTOM	Functional Annotation Of Mouse
GAS5	Growth arrest specific 5
GRO-seq	Global run-on-sequencing
H3K27me3	Histone 3 lysine 27 trimethylation
H3K4me3	Histone 3 lysine 4 trimethylation
HOTAIR	HOX transcript antisense RNA
Igf2r	Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor
kb	Kilobase

lncRNA	Long noncoding RNA
MALAT1	Metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
ΜΕΝβ	Multiple endocrine neoplasia beta
mESC	Murine embryonic stem cells
miRNA	MicroRNA
mRNA	Messenger RNA
ncRNA	noncoding RNA
nt	Nucleotides
ODN	Phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides
NEAT1	Nuclear enriched abundant transcript 1
PcG	Polycomb group proteins
PDK	3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3 kinase
piRNAs	Piwi-interacting RNAs
polII	Polymerase II
PRC1	Polycomb repressive complex 1
PRC2	Polycomb repressor complex 2
pri-miRNA	Primary miRNA
$PtdIns(3,4,5)P_3$	Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PTENpg1	PTEN pseudogene 1
RACE	Rapid amplification of cDNA ends
RIP	RNA immunoprecipitation
RISC	RNA induced silencing complex
RT	Reverse transcription
scaRNA	Small Cajal body-specific RNA
siRNA	Small-interfering RNA
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
snoRNA	Small nucleolar RNA
snRNA	Small nuclear RNA

SUZ12	Suppressor of zeste 12
TF	Transcription factors
tiRNA	Tiny promoter-associated RNAs or transcription initiation RNA
TOP1	Topoisomerase I
TSS	Transcription start sites
UCSC	University of California, Santa Cruz
UTR	Untranslated region
UV	Ultraviolet light
XCI	X-chromosome inactivation
Xist	X-inactive specific transcript

INTRODUCTION

The existence of an "RNA world" suggesting that life was solely based on RNAs had emerged long before sequencing of the human genome¹. In spite of strong evidence for central role of RNAs in early life it was generally believed that RNAs in humans were merely intermediates between DNA and proteins. This dogma, however, changed when human sequencing projects reported that about 80% of the human genome was transcribed and only less than 1% of these transcripts would give rise to proteins^{2,3}. This contradicted previous presumptions about the vast majority of the genome to be inert and not transcribed^{4,5}.

In the 50s, the role of the very abundant ribosomal RNAs and transfer RNAs in protein synthesis became evident⁶. Although there has been evidence for other functional RNAs over the years, they received relatively little attention. In recent years publications about the function of noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) have been accumulating providing us with a completely new insight into their complex regulatory functions. These publications have reported on various types of ncRNAs that participate in wide variety of physiological and developmental functions. One of the most well described groups of ncRNA is microRNAs (miRNAs), which can largely affect gene expression through a variety of mechanisms. Another emerging group of ncRNAs is long noncoding RNA (lncRNA) and their functions in regulating molecular processes are being gradually discovered.

One of the great surprises in the field of lncRNAs is the discovery of their role in the regulation of epigenetic processes⁷. Chromatin-modifying proteins can alter chromatin states and influence gene expression and lncRNAs have been shown to bind these proteins and guide them to gene specific loci⁸⁻¹⁰.

Studies of lncRNAs are not only important for our understanding of the fundamental biological pathways, but also, and importantly, to understand and to seek cure of human diseases. In this thesis I pursue to understand functional roles of lncRNAs and their roles in cancer development and progression

BACKGROUND

In February 2001, the human genome sequence was published "head to head" by two different groups. They showed that the human genome comprises of approximately 30,000 genes and sequence similarities between individuals to be 99.9%^{11,12}. Interestingly, a year later it was reported that the homology between mouse genes and humans was almost identical¹³. This was paradoxical to former belief that our genomes should reflect the superiority of humans, as proposed by Comings in 1972: "Being a little chauvinistic toward our own species, we like to think that man is surely one of the most complicated species on earth and thus needs just about the maximum number of genes"¹⁴.

These recent exploratory efforts greatly extended our knowledge of our genomes. However, the human genome project only sequenced euchromatin. At this time it was common conception that ncRNAs were "junk" that our genome had accumulated throughout evolution. In spite of few reports revealing the biological function of ncRNAs, it has taken decades for ncRNA to gain recognition in the scientific community. The exception was transfer RNA and ribosomal RNA discovered in 1950 and also a few decades ago there were reports about functional RNAs, including RNAse P, small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs) and a RNA component of the signal recognition particle, 7SL ¹⁵. In the 90s, the ncRNA X-inactive specific transcript (Xist) was discovered. Xist mediates the inactivation process of the X chromosome in placental mammals^{16,17}. This was considered the exception rather than the rule due to the unique early developmental functions carried out by XIST in shutting down activity of a whole chromosome.

The transcriptional complexity and the landscape of the mouse and human genomes were elucidated by major sequencing efforts performed by the FANTOM (Functional Annotation Of Mouse) and the ENCODE (Encyclopedia of DNA elements) consortia. The backbone of the FANTOM projects is a technique called the CAGE (cap-analysis of gene expression) technique, which captures 5' capped RNAs transcribed by RNA polymerase II (polII)¹⁸. By using this technique, the FANTOM3 project showed that majority of the mouse genome is transcribed and the coverage of the transcripts is about 62.5% of the genome³. The aim of the ENCODE project was to explore and annotate all functional elements of the human genome by using high-throughput methods. The first pilot phase of the ENCODE project indicated a lot of pervasive transcription¹⁹ and later they showed that approximately 60-75% of the human genome is transcribed into RNAs while only 1% will code for proteins²⁰. It had become increasingly difficult to overlook all of the pervasive transcription in the human genome and the fact that non-coding transcripts in humans exceeds other species²¹. So maybe after all humans are more complex than other species. To date, predicted protein-coding genes in humans are estimated around 20,000 and lncRNAs are thought to account for about $10,000^{22}$. This prediction might however be underestimated. For example, one recent study overlaid RNA sequencing libraries from cell lines, tumor and normal tissues that showed that 68% of the transcribed genes were lncRNAs and 79% of them were previously unannotated²³. A plausible explanation for the discrepancy is the fact that lncRNAs are often

expressed at rather low levels in a tissue specific manner. Therefore, the number of expressed lncRNAs could increase in the future due to emerging deeper sequencing techniques and by exploring early embryonic stages. Taken together, it has become evident that cells produce large amount of lncRNAs. However, only a tiny fraction of these lncRNAs have been functionally characterized. Therefore, increased functional studies of lncRNAs could aid in understanding the onset and progression of various human diseases.

1.1 CANCER

The World Health Organization estimated 14.1 million new cancer cases worldwide in 2012 and annual rates are expected to rise to 19.3 million before the year 2025²⁴. Factors, such as longevity, cancer screening programs and better diagnostics, can greatly contribute to the growing cancer incidence rates. Along with growing incidence, the efforts from academic research and pharmaceutical industries result in the introduction of novel and effective treatment modalities against cancer. In spite of these advances in cancer therapy, drug resistance remains one of the major obstacles in cancer treatment.

Cancer is a heterogeneous disease with common characteristic of abnormal cell growth that goes beyond its boundaries. In 2000 Hanahan and Weinberg described six major hallmarks of cancer: (i) self sufficiency in growth signals, (ii) evading apoptosis, (iii) sustained angiogenesis, (iv) limitless replication potential, (v) insensitivity to anti-growth signals and, (vi) activating invasion and metastasis²⁵. Eleven years later the same authors added tumor microenvironment to the hallmarks of cancer²⁶. Interestingly, lncRNA have been shown to be involved in all of these fundamental elements that contribute to tumor development²⁷ (Figure 1).



Figure 1 The hallmarks of cancer and an example of a lncRNA involved in each of the hallmarks (modified from²⁸).

1.1.1 Cutaneous malignant melanoma

Melanoma is a malignant tumor that originates in melanocytes and commonly arises on the skin surface²⁹. Although cutaneous malignant melanoma (CMM) account for only 5% of skin cancer, it causes 75% of all skin cancer-related deaths. Risk factors for melanomas are increased numbers of melanocytic nevi, light skin, hair and eye color and ultraviolet light (UV) exposure²⁹. Only about 6-12% of new cases of CMM are family related, often carrying a germline mutations in the CDKN2A gene³⁰. Other genetic predisposition that increase the lifetime risk of acquiring melanoma are loss of function of the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4), mutations in the tumor suppressor RB1 and missense substitution of the transcription factor *MITF*³⁰⁻³². Somatic mutations contributing to melanomagenesis have been reported. The most common somatic deviations are mutations in the BRAF gene (66%) and NRAS (20%), which lead to activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway that stimulates cell growth and survival^{33,34}. Although not as common as *BRAF* and NRAS mutations, KIT mutations are found in a small subset of patients $(1\%)^{35}$. Recently, these findings have led to the discovery of small molecule inhibitors that target the mutated forms of BRAF and KIT. The role of BRAF and BRAF inhibitors are described in more details in section 1.2.2.

Tumor progression of melanocytes into advanced metastatic cancer occurs in 5 steps:

- Step 1. Common acquired nevus
- Step 2. Dysplastic nevi (has architectural and cytological atypia)
- Step 3. Radial growth phase (dysplastic lesions start to form)
- Step 4. Vertical growth phase (higher risk for metastasis)
- Step 5. Metastatic melanoma³⁶

Patients who have their tumors detected at early stages of melanoma progression will have increased cure rates and good prognosis. Unfortunately, for those patients diagnosed with advanced metastatic melanoma, the median survival time is only 6-9 months and the cancer has become incurable³⁷. For these patients chemotherapy results most often in partial responses with response rates as low as 5-12%³⁸ and radiotherapy is mainly used as palliative therapy³⁹. Thus, detection and prevention of melanomas are a crucial part in fighting this disease. However, recent advances in drug development of small molecule inhibitors have brought some hope for metastatic melanoma patients.

1.1.2 LncRNA in melanoma

At least dozen of lncRNAs have been reported to participate in the pathogenesis of cutaneous melanoma, among those are *HOTAIR*, *MALAT1*, *ANRIL* and *GAS5*²⁸. A study reported deregulation of ~100 lncRNAs upon induced expression of BRAF^{V600E}. In this screen the lncRNA *BANCR* (BRAF-activated non-coding RNA) was discovered and shown to influence gene expression in *trans* of genes involved in cell migration⁴⁰. Further, knockdown of *BANCR* resulted in disruption of proliferation in melanoma cell lines and high *BANCR* expression levels were correlated with shorter patients survival⁴¹, suggesting its prooncogenic functions in melanoma. Another pro-oncogenic lncRNA called *SAMMSON* was

found in 90% of melanomas. *SAMMSON* is frequently co-amplified with the transcription factor MITF but appears to function independent of MITF. *SAMMSON* transcription is driven by the lineage-specific transcription factor SOX10, and was shown to drive mitochondrial function in melanoma. Targeting of *SAMMSON* sensitized melanoma to MAPK-targeting therapeutics⁴², indicating *SAMMSON* as a potential therapeutic target. The role of *PTEN* pseudogene acting as a miRNA sponge (see chapter 1.4.1) has also been suggested to contribute to the development and progression of melanoma^{43,44}. Interestingly, the *PTEN* pseudogene has been shown to be deleted in ~14-21% of melanoma⁴³, indicating a possible role in cancer development.

1.2 TUMOR SUPPRESSIOR GENES AND ONCOGENES

Tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes are two classes of genes that can drive tumor development and progression, either through their inactivation (tumor suppressor genes) or an illegitimate activation (oncogenes). Loss of function of tumor suppressor genes can occur through e.g. mutations, chromosomal rearrangements or epigenetic silencing, while an overexpression due to mutations, chromosomal translocations, or an abnormal signaling can lead to activation of oncogenes.

In general, Knudson's "two hit hypothesis" applies to tumor suppressor genes. Knudson's hypothesis suggests that tumor suppressor genes loose their function if both alleles become inactive by two mutational events⁴⁵. There are exceptions to this rule where tumor suppressor genes can also loose their function through epigenetic changes or haploinsufficiency⁴⁶. The very well studied *TP53* gene is an example of tumor suppressor gene and has the highest mutation rates in human cancer⁴⁷. P53 has a diverse function but is mostly known for its ability to induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis⁴⁸. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* genes are also good examples of tumor suppressor genes. The *BRCA* genes play an important role in error-free DNA damage repair. Inherited mutations in the *BRCA* genes greatly increase the risk of breast, ovarian and prostate cancer⁴⁹⁻⁵².

The oncogene *Src* was the first oncogene discovered in chicken retrovirus⁵³. Since then numerous oncogenes have been discovered. Another example of an oncogene is the transcription factor MYC that is frequently amplified in human cancers. Aberrant expression of the proto-oncogene MYC results in transcriptional deregulation of many genes and is known for its role in genomic instability⁵⁴. In humans three *RAS* genes are found (*NRAS, KRAS* and *HRAS*) and all have been shown to be oncogenic in various types of cancer⁵⁵. RAS proteins are GTPases and oncogenic mutations in *RAS* genes result in a constitutively active protein leading to activation of RAS downstream targets in the PI3K-AKT-mTOR and Raf-MEK pathways⁵⁶.

Taken together, tumor suppressors and oncogenes play a major part in tumorigenesis and tumor progression. Here, the tumor suppressor *PTEN* and the oncogene *BRAF* will be discussed in more details below.

1.2.1 PTEN

Early genetic studies revealed a partial or full loss of chromosome 10 in brain, bladder and prostate cancers⁵⁷. Later *PTEN* (Phosphatase and tensin homolog) was mapped to chromosome 10 and germline mutations in PTEN were found in patients with cancer predisposition syndromes (e.g. Cowden disease)^{58,59}. In addition, PTEN was often found to be dysregulated in various tumor types and PTEN knockout mice were shown to be prone to tumor formations^{58,60}. These initial studies confirmed the tumor suppressor activity of PTEN. Interestingly, for PTEN, Knudson't two hit model does not apply because subtle downregulation of PTEN levels can promote cancer susceptibility⁶¹. Therefore, PTEN needs to be maintained at stable levels in order to avoid tumorigenesis, which implies a necessity for a tight regulation of PTEN expression. PTEN levels can be regulated transcriptionally, post-transcriptionally and post-translationally. The tumor suppressor p53, early growth response protein 1 (EGR-1) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR- γ) have all been found to be positive regulators of PTEN by binding to the PTEN promoter to activate *PTEN* transcription⁶²⁻⁶⁴. PTEN has also been shown to be negatively regulated by the transcription factor c-Jun that can bind to the 5'upstream sequence of PTEN and inhibit its transcription⁶⁵. Furthermore, epigenetic remodelers can contribute to transcription of *PTEN* and epigenetic silencing at the *PTEN* promoter is seen in various types of cancer, including melanomas ⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸. *PTEN* is also regulated post-transcriptionally by plethora of miRNAs that bind to the 3'UTR of PTEN mRNA and cause degradation of the mRNA or translational repression⁶⁹⁻⁷². Excessive amount of particular miRNAs that target PTEN can therefore contribute to tumorigenesis through lowering PTEN levels⁷³. Phosphorylation, oxidation, acetylation and ubiquitination can all affect PTEN at the post-translational level. These alterations can change the localization or the stability of PTEN, in addition to interfering with PTEN protein interactions⁷⁴⁻⁷⁸.

The main catalytic function of this phosphatase is to generate the inactive form PIP₂ (Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate) by dephosphorylation of PIP₃ (also known as PtdIns(3,4,5)P). Typically, the PI3K (phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase) are activated by stimuli (hormones, growth factors, chemokines or cytokines) that bind and signal through receptor kinases or G proteins coupled receptors (GPCRs)⁷⁹. PI3K generates the phospholipid PIP₃ by phosphorylating the 3-postion of the inositol ring of PIP₂⁸⁰. PIP₃ is localized to the cellular inner membrane and recruits and activates PDK (3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase) and AKT (protein kinase B)⁸¹. AKT is activated by phosphorylation at two different residues Thr308 and Ser473⁸². Active AKT leads to cascade activation of various proteins that drive cell survival, cell proliferation, angiogenesis and cellular metabolism⁸². Loss of PTEN will therefore lead to constitutively active PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway and promote cell growth and survival⁸³ (Figure 2).



Figure 2 The PI3K/AKT pathway. Upon stimuli, a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) activates PI3K kinase, which catalyzes phosphorylation of PIP₂ into PIP₃. PIP₃ then recruits and activates PDK and AKT. PTEN antagonizes the PI3K/AKT pathway by dephosphorylating PIP₃.

1.2.2 BRAF

Activating mutations in the serine/threonine kinase *BRAF* (v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B) are found in 8% of human tumors and the highest *BRAF* mutation incidence is observed in melanoma $(27-67\%)^{34}$. Various *BRAF* mutations have been reported that lead to elevated kinase activity; of which, the most common mutation is the glutamic acid substitution for valine at codon 600 (V600E)^{34,84}. Interestingly, *BRAF^{V600E}* is found in 80% of benign nevi, implying that *BRAF* mutation is not sufficient to induce melanoma and additional molecular event(s) are required for the tumorigenesis⁸⁵. However, BRAF^{V600E} expression in nude-mice leads to an increased ability for non-transformed melanocytes to form tumors⁸⁶ and BRAF^{V600E} inhibition in xenograft models induces growth arrest and apoptosis^{87,88}.

BRAF is a part of the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK signaling pathway (or MAPK pathway) that controls cell proliferation, survival, senescence and differentiation in melanoma⁸⁹. RAS (HRAS, KRAS and NRAS), RAF (ARAF, BRAF, CRAF), MEK (MEK1, MEK2) and ERK (ERK1, ERK2) proteins are key components of the MAPK pathway. Generally, the upstream signal for activation of RAS proteins are generated by extracellular signals and activation of receptor tyrosine kinases⁹⁰. This leads to the formation of active RAS-GTP complexes from the inactive form RAS-GDP. RAS-GTP mediates phosphorylation and activation of BRAF that promotes its homodimerization⁹¹. BRAF homodimers phosphorylate MEK, which in return phosphorylate and activate ERK⁹². The active ERK-regulated transcription factors activate transcription of genes leading to cell proliferation. ERK also induces a negative feedback in the MAPK pathway, by inhibiting

phosphorylation of RAS through inhibition of receptor tyrosine kinases and dephosphorylation of BRAF^{93,94}.

BRAF^{V600E} inhibitors

Treatment options for melanoma patients largely depend on the stage of the disease at diagnosis. Although surgical excision is sufficient in early stages of melanoma, the therapeutic options for advanced diseases are limited due to the fact that chemotherapy and radiation have not shown to be a great success. Recently, small molecule inhibitors have been developed and shown to be effective in melanoma patients that carry activating mutations in BRAF. Vemurafenib and dabrafenib are examples of BRAF inhibitors, and 80% of patients with advanced melanoma carrying a BRAF^{V600E} mutation initially respond well to vemurafenib treatment and show tumor regression⁹⁵. At the time of the discovery, this drug attracted a broad attention and raised hopes for effective melanoma treatment. However, it also brought a deep disappointment since the vast majority of patients developed resistance to vemurafenib, which typically emerged within 6-7 months of treatment⁹⁶. In recent years, efforts have been made to understand the molecular mechanisms underlying the acquired vemurafenib resistance^{97,98} Constitutively active PI3K/AKT pathway, due to loss of PTEN, has been shown to be one of the mechanisms contributing to vemurafenib resistance⁹⁹ (Figure 3). Mutational activation in NRAS is also commonly seen in vemurafenib resistance¹⁰⁰. This activation leads to increased formation of RAF hetero- or homodimers consequently causing activation of MEK. Secondary mutations in MEK leading to activation of the MAPK pathway are also found in vemurafenib-resistant melanomas¹⁰¹. Another scenario of vemurafenib resistance is activation of the serine/threonine kinase COT (Cancer Osaka Thyroid oncogene, also known as MAP3K8) that can activate ERK but does not require RAF¹⁰².



Figure 3 A Schematic depicting how loss of PTEN can contribute to vemurafenib resistance. BRAF^{V600E} leads to hyperactive MEK/ERK signaling pathway without involvement of upstream signaling. Vemurafenib targets BRAF^{V600E} and shuts down the MEK/ERK signaling pathway. Upon vemurafenib resistance the MEK/ERK signaling pathway is restored as well as the PI3K/AKT pathway is activated due to loss of PTEN to promote cell proliferation and survival.

1.2.3 C/EBPβ

Although C/EBP β (CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein β) has not been titled as an oncogene or a tumor suppressor, it has been shown to be implicated in various types of cancers (reviewed in ¹⁰³). Therefore this gene will be included in this chapter.

C/EBP β is a versatile transcription factor (TF) that can carry out multiple cellular functions, such as cell proliferation, differentiation and senescence. This protein is a part of the basic leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factor family, which consists of two domains: DNA binding domain and multimerization domain¹⁰⁴. Commonly, C/EBP β will homodimerize or heterodimerize to other proteins from the C/EBP family. C/EBP β binds double-stranded DNA in a sequence specific manner through the consensus sequence, RTTGCGYAAY (R=A/G, Y=C/T)¹⁰⁵, however different binding motifs for C/EBP β have also been reported¹⁰⁶.

C/EBP β is translated to three different isoforms, i.e. two long isoforms (LAP1 and LAP2) and one short isoform (LIP)¹⁰⁷. The proportion between them is important for the cell to maintain normal growth and development¹⁰⁸. The isoforms have been shown to be capable of carrying out different functions. For example, the LAP1 has been shown to recruit the SWI-SNF nucleosome remodeling complex to silence genes, which leads to increased access of TFs to DNA through chromatin remodeling¹⁰⁹. Different isoforms of C/EBP β can also bind to their specific promoters, e.g. only LAP2 can bind to the Cyclin D1 promoter¹¹⁰.

Although methylation of CpG islands is commonly correlated with repressed transcription, there is recent evidence showing that some DNA methylated sites can have increased TF binding and induced gene activity¹¹¹⁻¹¹³. For example, the promoter region of *FOXA2* gene shows high DNA methylation levels in tissue that express FOXA2¹¹¹. CEBP β has been reported to show enhanced binding affinity towards methylated promoters and/or CpG islands, in particular the CRE (cAMP response elements) and C/EBP motifs, leading to increased gene activity^{114,115}.

Dysregulation of C/EBPβ plays a role in tumorigenesis. In primary human and mouse fibroblasts that express oncogenic RAS or BRAF, C/EBPβ has been shown to guard RASand BRAF-mutated cells from cellular transformation by inhibiting cell proliferation and inducing senescence^{116,117}. Therefore, bypassing the C/EBPβ activity is necessary for continued cell proliferation and several mechanisms of how this occurs have been suggested¹¹⁸. On the contrary, CEBPβ expression was found to be essential for formation of skin tumors in the majority of tumors carrying Ras mutations¹¹⁹. Additionally, high C/EBPβ expression can also contribute to tumorigenesis. For example, C/EBPβ has been shown to be overexpressed at late stages of breast carcinogenesis¹²⁰ and induce epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in mammary epithelial cells¹²¹. C/EBPβ can also regulate metastatic genes and survival in prostate cancer cells^{122,123} and mesenchymal transformation in human gliomas¹²⁴. A better knowledge of CEBPβ contribution to tumorigenesis is needed to understand if CEBPβ could represent a promising drug target.

1.3 NONCODING RNA

Noncoding RNAs are grouped into small (<200 nucleotides (nt)) or long noncoding RNAs (>200 nt). This arbitrary classification is originally based on the Qiagen RNA isolation kit that will keep long RNAs while short RNAs will filter through¹²⁵.

1.3.1 Long noncoding RNA

LncRNAs represent a large proportion of transcripts found in the human genome. To some extent lncRNA resemble messenger RNAs (mRNAs), by often being 5'capped, polyadenylated, spliced and transcribed by RNA pol II¹²⁶. However, unlike protein coding genes many of these lncRNAs lack sequence conservation between species and therefore the hypothesis has been that lncRNAs simply represent transcriptional noise. Indeed only 20% of lncRNA show an inter-species homology between human and mouse and this proportion is even lower, about 5%, for homology between humans and fish¹²⁷. It is, however, important to keep in mind that although sequence conservation usually implies functionality, lack of conservation does not necessarily imply the opposite¹²⁸. Also, the conserved function of RNAs between species could occur through secondary structures, which are not based on exact homology but nevertheless are important for RNA functions; at least this feature has been demonstrated for small non-coding RNA, like tRNA and snoRNAs. Studies on IncRNAs secondary structures are however scarce and difficult to carry out due to a steady uncertainty in the predicting models. Triplex elements are one of the few structures that have been reported to stabilize the 3'ends of the lncRNAs, MALAT1 (metastasis-associated lung and enocarcinoma) and MEN β , that both lack a poly-A tail¹²⁹. Another evolutionarily conserved domain is the tandem stem-loops in roX1 and roX2 RNAs in D. melanogaster that has been found to bind the MLE RNA helicase and the MSL2 ubiquitin ligase to mediate Xchromosome dosage compensation¹³⁰. Recently the secondary structure of HOTAIR was published and notably some secondary structure elements within HOTAIR structure are conserved across 33 mammalian sequences¹³¹. However, a contradicting study claim that IncRNAs, including HOTAIR, do not have a conserved structure¹³². In addition to sequence and structure, functional conservation could also be obtained through the position of IncRNAs within a genome: thus the location of antisense transcripts may play an important role in regulating their sense counterpart¹³³.

Functional characterizations of lncRNAs are still in its infancy. One important aspect to reveal their specialized function is subcellular localization of lncRNAs. LncRNAs localized in the nucleus often act as epigenetic modulators (Figure 4A-B), while those in the cytoplasm often have post-transcriptional functions (reviewed in ¹³⁴). For example, the lncRNA *NRON* regulates trafficking of the transcription factor NFAT into the nucleus¹³⁵ and the lncRNA *SNHG5* stabilizes the mRNA SPATS2 by forming a RNA:RNA duplex making the mRNA inaccessible to the destabilizing protein, STAU1 lncRNAs (Figure 4F-E)^{136,137}.

One might speculate that the nuclear lncRNAs are kept in the nucleus by interacting with proteins that facilitate their subcellular localization (Figure A-C). For example, the matrix

protein hnRNP U regulates localization of the lncRNAs *XIST* and *FIRRE* to specific chromosomal loci and knockdown of hnRNP U leads to their mislocalization^{138,139}. In addition, lncRNAs could be kept in the nucleus by binding to protein complexes, such as PRC2, preventing them from exiting to the cytoplasm (reviewed in ¹⁴⁰). Generally, it is assumed that processed lncRNAs will be exported to the cytoplasm in a similar manner as mRNAs, however this remains to be experimentally tested (reviewed in¹⁴⁰).



Figure 4 Functions of lncRNAs. (A-B) LncRNA recruit epigenetic modifying proteins to chromatin. (C) LncRNA can act as decoy keeping proteins away from the DNA. (D) LncRNA can act as scaffolds pulling proteins together. (E) LncRNA (and ciRNA) can act as miRNA sponges. (F) LncRNA can block accessibility of RNA degradation proteins by forming RNA:mRNA duplexes.

Although the subcellular localization of a lncRNA can help predict its function, lncRNAs are currently classified according to their genomic location and relation to protein coding genes. The main subclasses of lncRNA (Figure 5) are²²:

- Antisense RNA (asRNA)
- Large intergenic RNA (lincRNA)
- Sense overlapping RNA
- Sense intronic RNA
- Processed transcripts (without an open reading frame (ORF) and does not fit in of the other categories)
- Trancribed psuedogenes¹⁴¹

There are other subgroups of RNA that are emerging, for example enhancer RNA (eRNA) and circular RNA (ciRNA) but they coincide in part with other subgroups of ncRNAs. LincRNAs is the most abundant class of lncRNAs and their expression is highly tissue specific¹⁴². Although not as common as lincRNAs, antisense RNAs that overlap their sense counterparts will be discussed here in greater details.



Figure 5: A schematic depicting the main subclasses of lncRNAs. (A) Antisense RNA (B) LincRNA (C) Sense-intronic RNA (D) Sense-overlapping RNA

1.3.2 Cis-acting IncRNA with focus on antisense RNA

First reports from the FANTOM consortium suggested that about 20% of transcribed genes have an antisense transcription¹⁴³. Later, the FANTOM3 project and other groups reported that antisense transcripts are emitting from about 2/3 of protein-coding genes in the mammalian genome^{3,144}. Antisense RNAs arise from the same genomic loci as their sense counterpart but are transcribed from the opposite DNA strand. They may be coding or noncoding RNA complements. The orientation of antisense RNA towards its sense counterpart is described as being "head to head" or "tail to tail". There are also transcripts that

have full overlaps and antisense transcripts that are only nearby the head or the tail and therefore literally do not overlap. Antisense transcripts can act in *cis* or in *trans. Cis*-antisense RNAs interact with genes at the same genome loci while *trans*-antisense RNAs interact with distant genes on the same chromosome or genes on different chromosomes ¹⁴⁵. *Cis*- acting lncRNA can influence gene expression of overlapping gene counterpart or a gene that has a proximal location towards the lncRNA. The following are a few examples of *cis* regulatory lncRNAs.

X-chromosomal inactivation

In spite of low gene density on the X-chromosome, inactivation of one X-chromosome is vital in eutherian females to compensate for gene dosage imbalance between sexes. LncRNAs are key players in X-chromosomal inactivation (XCI) and the X inactivate specific transcript (*Xist*) is one of the most extensively studied lncRNA. *Xist* is a nucleus-localized lncRNA transcribed from the X-inactivation center (Xic) and physically coats the inactive X-chromosome^{16,17,146}. *Xist* is 17 kilobases (kb) with several tandem repeats, however only one of the repeats located in the 5' end is relatively well conserved and thought to be critical for *Xist* function^{146,147}. *Xist* orchestrates along with other lncRNAs a cascade of chromatin changes that lead to transcriptional silencing of the X-chromosome that is destined to be inactive, by modification of core histones through acetylation or methylation and exclusion of RNA polymerase II¹⁴⁸.

Xist has a 40 kb antisense transcript called *Tsix* that prevents *Xist* to be transcribed from the active X-chromosome¹⁴⁹. Before the onset of X-chromosomal inactivation, *Tsix* is expressed from both X chromosomes, however, after the process has been initiated *Tsix* is only transcribed from the active chromosome¹⁴⁹. Thus, on the inactive chromosome where *Tsix* is not expressed *Xist* will accumulate. It is believed that *Tsix* blocks the XCI by interacting with the polycomb repressor complex 2 (PRC2) but instead of recruiting it to the XCI it sequesters PRC2 away from *Xist* and inhibits their interactions¹⁵⁰. Interestingly, *Tsix* has also been shown to interact with DNA methyltransferase 3a (DNMT3a), which are known to methylate gene promoters leading to epigenetic silencing. When this interaction was abolished DNMT3a was not recruited to the promoter of *Xist*¹⁵¹ and thus could not DNA methylate the promoter leading to transcriptional activation of *Xist*.

JPX is another lncRNA involved in X chromosomal inactivation. The transcription factor CTCF (CCCTC-binding factor) represses *Xist* transcription prior to the XCI; however, after initiation of XCI, *JPX* becomes upregulated and binds to CTCF and titrates it away from the *Xist* promoter leading to *Xist* expression¹⁵².

The complexity of the involvement of lncRNAs in XCI is a good example of the many facades of the functional role lncRNAs and the importance of the tight transcriptional regulation executed by lncRNAs.

The imprinted Igf2r gene is important in fetal and placenta development^{153,154}. The IGF2 receptor has a role in binding to the major fetal growth factor IGF2 and target it for lysosomal degradation¹⁵⁵. The Igf2r gene has two differentially methylated regions: one is located at the promoter and the other in intron 2 of Igf2r gene. This latter region is a promoter for an asRNA named *Airn* (antisense Insulin–like growth factor receptor). In mice, *Airn* is paternally expressed lncRNA that acts in *cis* by mediating transcriptional silencing of $Igf2r^{156,157}$. Previous speculation of the mechanism of *Airn* suggested that *Airn* mediates silencing of Igf2r through recruitment of epigenetic proteins to Igf2r promoter¹⁵⁸. However, more recent studies claim that *Airn* transcription will interfere with RNA pol II and thereby block the capacity to transcribe $Igf2^{159}$. Interestingly, a human homolog for *Airn* is transcribed from the same genomic loci as in mice but has not been shown to be involved in imprinting of *IGF2R* and therefore has an undescribed role in humans¹⁵⁹.

ANRIL (antisense noncoding RNA in the INK4 locus)

In the INK4b/ARF/INK4a locus resides three possible tumor suppressor genes p15/CDKN2B, p16/CDKN2A and $p14/ARF^{160}$, and they are under tight regulation of the polycomb group complex¹⁶¹. *ANRIL* is a large antisense RNA overlapping the INK4b/ARF/INK4a locus and was first discovered in a melanoma-neural system tumor family¹⁶². *ANRIL* is expressed from the proximal promoter of INK4a and encodes for a 125 kb long transcript¹⁶². *ANRIL* binds to chromobox protein homolog 7 (CBX7), a subunit of the polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1), and together they mediate silencing at the INK4/ARF locus¹⁶³. *ANRIL* has shown to have multiple isoforms and that some of them can form circular RNAs¹⁶⁴. Interestingly, one *circANRIL* was shown to modulate ribosomal RNA maturation by binding to a 60S pre ribosomal assembly factor and inhibiting exonucleases mediated processing^{165,166}. Furthermore, *ANRIL* can also function in *trans* by modulating various gene expression networks¹⁶⁷. *ANRIL*'s different isoforms and functions is a good example of how transcriptional complexity can contribute to different functions.

WRAP53

Interestingly, p53 itself is regulated by an antisense transcript, WRAP53 α , encoded by the *WRAP53* gene that overlaps the *p53* gene in a "head-to head" orientation. In this case, WRAP53 α RNA interacts with the complementary region of p53 RNA and thereby stabilizes p53 RNA. Disruption of this interaction by knocking down WRAP53 α or blocking the WRAP53 α /p53 hybrids leads to decreased p53 RNA levels¹⁶⁸. Moreover, WRAP53 α RNA was found to interact with the CTCF important for the transcriptional regulation of p53 RNA expression¹⁶⁹.

1.3.3 Trans-acting IncRNA

LncRNA that directly influence gene expression on different chromosomes are *trans*-acting lncRNAs. *HOTAIR* was the first lncRNA that was reported to function in *trans*. Since then a number of publications have observed this phenomenon as a mechanism of action of a variety of lncRNAs.

HOTAIR (Hox transcript antisense intergenic RNA)

In the human genome there are 39 genes that encode for HOX transcription factors. They all reside within four different loci, HOXA-HOXD. One of the best studied lncRNA, HOX transcript antisense intergenic RNA (HOTAIR), resides within the HOXC locus and functions in trans by mediating gene silencing covering 40 kb of the HOXD locus. HOTAIR is a 2.2 kilobase (kb) long ncRNA that has two protein binding domains at the 5' and 3' end. Initial studies showed reduced levels of SUZ12 (a subunit of the epigenetic silencing complex PRC2) and H3K27me3 at the HOXD locus after siRNA-mediated knockdown of HOTAIR¹⁷⁰. Interestingly, no effect on gene expression on the HOXC locus (where the HOTAIR gene is located) was observed. Pulldowns using biotinylated HOTAIR show a direct interaction with the PRC2 components EZH2 and SUZ12. HOTAIR is therefore thought to guide the PRC2 complex to the HOXD locus¹⁷¹. While the PRC2 complex binds to the 5' domain of HOTAIR, the 3' domain is thought to interact with the histone demethylases, LSD1 that is a part of a histone modification complex called CoREST/REST (Figure 4D). HOTAIR can therefore acts as a modular scaffold between these two complexes leading to transcriptional repression at the HOXD locus^{172,173}. Overexpression of HOTAIR has been reported in breast cancer metastasis; an ectopically induced HOTAIR expression in breast cancer cell lines lead to cancer cell invasion and promotes colony growth ¹⁷⁴. Since then numerous publications have linked HOTAIR expression to cancer-associated processes, such as metastasis and tumor invasion as well as to prognosis ¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁸.

MALAT-1 (metastasis associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1)

The ~8 kb long *MALAT-1* was one of the first lncRNA that was linked to human cancer and metastasis and has been shown to be overexpressed in numerous cancers^{179,180}. Later the function of the *MALAT-1* was uncovered. *MALAT-1* localizes to the nuclear speckles and interacts with serine/arginine splicing factors that regulate alternative splicing. The interaction between *MALAT-1* and these splicing factors influences the distribution of these splicing factors in a nuclear speckle domain. Therefore, repressed expression of *MALAT-1* leads to alternative splicing of endogenous mRNAs¹⁸¹. *MALAT-1* has also an alternative function where it can interact with a component of the PRC1 complex (CBX4 (Chromobox homolog 4)) and thereby actively regulate gene expression, including genes associated with metastasis^{182,183}.

LincRNA-p21

The lncRNA *LincRNA-p21* is regulated by p53 and in return inhibits the expression of hundreds of genes that are repressed by p53. *LincRNA-p21* physically interacts with the RNA binding protein, hnRNP-K and mediates the localization of this protein to gene loci, which consequently leads to transcriptional repression¹⁸⁴. In addition, *LincRNA-p21* has an alternative function as a modulator of translation. The HuR protein binds to *LincRNA-p21* leading to recruitment of let7/Ago2 and causes instability of *LincRNA-p21*. In the absence of HuR, *LincRNA-p21* levels increase, an interaction of the mRNA products¹⁸⁴. Since the discovery of *LincRNA-21* numerous publications have reported a link between *LincRNA-21* deregulation and cancer¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁷, yet again stressing the importance of lncRNAs in cancer development.

1.3.4 Short ncRNA

Short ncRNAs have been more extensively studied than lncRNAs. They are classified into the following subgroups: microRNAs (miRNAs), small-interfering RNAs (siRNAs), piwiinteracting RNA (piRNAs), small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs), extracellular RNA (exRNAs) and Small Cajal body-specific RNAs (scaRNAs). Short ncRNAs are typically between 20-30 nt and are associated with Argonaute (AGO) family proteins. MicroRNAs is the group of short ncRNAs has been most extensively studied and over 2.000 miRNAs genes have been annotated in humans ^{188,189}.

1.3.4.1 MicroRNA

MicroRNAs are generally 20-24 base pairs (bp) in length and bind to mRNAs in a sequence specific manner, usually in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of mRNAs. Generally, miRNA originates from a long primary transcripts transcribed by RNA pol II called primary miRNA (pri-miRNA)¹⁹⁰. The pri-miRNA contains a stem loop structure that is recognized by the nuclear RNase III Drosha that is a part of the microprocessor complex that crops the pri-miRNA down to a small hairpin structure called pre-miRNA, typically around 70 nt in length¹⁹¹. Following Drosha-mediated processing, pre-miRNAs are exported to the cytoplasm where another RNase III enzyme called Dicer cleaves of the loop leaving a miRNA duplex^{192,193}. Finally, the mature miRNA duplex is loaded onto the AGO protein, which will form the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC)¹⁹⁴. The miRNA will then serve as a guide for the RISC complex to the target mRNA. MiRNA targeting often leads to post-transcriptional gene silencing, and it has been suggested that about 30-60% of all human mRNA are under regulatory roles of miRNAs ^{195,196}.

1.3.5 Promoter associated RNA

Promoter associated RNAs (RNAs) are also known as promoter-proximal transcription start site RNAs, promoter upstream transcripts or transcriptional start site-associated RNAs¹⁹⁷. Deep RNA sequencing and Global Run-on-Sequencing (GRO-seq) lead to the discovery of paRNAs, which are most often lowly expressed and unstable transcripts^{198,199}. There are three main subgroups to be found, again categorized according to size, tiny, short and long paRNAs. Typically, paRNAs are being transcribed in the same direction as their downstream genes^{198,199} but antisense transcription can also occur. They are often associated with highly expressed mRNA transcripts and RNA Pol II binding sites²⁰⁰ and thought to modify the chromatin state of their corresponding genes' promoters.

Tiny paRNAs

Tiny paRNAs or transcription initiation RNAs (tiRNAs) are typically 18 nt in length and map within -60 to +120 nt of transcription start sites (TSSs)²⁰⁰. They are not Dicer-2-, Ago1- or Ago2-dependent in contrast to miRNAs²⁰⁰. Transcription of tiRNAs is often found downstream of TSSs and therefore it is thought unlikely that they are products of RNA pol II run offs or truncated 5' capped ends²⁰⁰. A possible hypothesis for how tiRNA are generated is that RNA pol II binds to the DNA strand to initiate transcription but does not manage to push through the 1st nucleosome and therefore causes pausing or backtracking (reviewed in ²⁰¹). The functionality of tiRNAs is not fully known but they are thought to play a role in transcription. For example tiRNAs are frequently found in CTCF binding sites and inhibition of tiny paRNAs transcription leads to increased binding of CTCF to the DNA²⁰².

Short paRNAs

Short paRNAs are generally between 20-90 nt and originate within -50 bp to +250 bp of the TSS¹⁹⁸. They have been described to be polyadenylated with a high turnover rate²⁰³. In embryonic stem (ES) cells short paRNAs have been shown to be lowly expressed transcripts found to be bound to chromatin loci that are enriched with RNA Pol II and histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylated (H3K4me3). Interestingly, short paRNA appear to be fairly common phenomenon and are transcribed in more than half of mouse genes. Like tiRNAs, short paRNA were found to be Dicer independent in Dicer deficient ES cells¹⁹⁸. In humans, the expression levels of short paRNAs correlate to mRNA expression levels and promoter activity of the corresponding gene¹⁹⁸. Short paRNAs are thought to influence gene transcription by maintaining an accessible chromatin for TFs, either by releasing negative supercoils or keeping a nucleosome-free region at TSSs¹⁹⁷. Short paRNA have also been reported to act as transcriptional repressors. For example, cells transfected with short paRNA that correspond to the c-MYC TSS showed reduced MYC mRNA abundance²⁰⁴. In addition, similar to the long paRNAs, short paRNA may also give rise to endo-siRNA ¹⁹⁷.

Long paRNAs

Accumulation of unstable long paRNAs, spanning around 250-500 nt, were first noticed in yeast that had defects in an exosome component RRP6, which degrades RNA²⁰⁵. Although long paRNAs have not been thoroughly studied they are thought to influence DNA methylation. For an example, the *Sphk1* gene has an antisense transcript that emits from the CpG island at its promoter and is capable of influencing DNA methylation status at this region²⁰⁶. Another example is a cryptic unstable antisense paRNA of TY1 in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* that mediates silencing of TY1 expression ²⁰⁷. It has also been speculated that long paRNAs could be a source for the formation of double-stranded RNAs with their overlapping counterparts giving rise to endo-siRNAs ²⁰⁸.

1.4 PSEUDOGENES

The term pseudogene was created on their discoveries in 1977²⁰⁹. To date, there are thought to be around 11.000 pseudogenes in the human genome thereof 876 that are transcribed²¹⁰. In general, pseudogenes are described as duplicated genes that have lost their capacity to code for protein. It should however be stated that a recent proteomics study observed peptides being encoded by 107 pseudogenes²¹¹. It is, however, unknown if these peptides are being accidentally translated or if they have a physiological function. Due to the nature of pseudogenes they often retain high sequence homology to their coding parental gene²¹⁰. Over time pseudogenes have accumulated mutations that cause premature stop codons or frame shift mutations that prevent them from being expressed. Although before thought of as "junk" DNA emerging evidence exists for their functional properties ^{141,209}. Pseudogenes are classified according to how they are generated from their ancestral functional genes, and the main subgroups are:

- Processed pseudogenes
- Unprocessed pseudogenes
- Unitary pseudogenes

Processed pseudogenes are mRNAs that have been spontaneously reversed transcribed and randomly inserted back into the genome, often far from the parental gene (Figure 6). Processed pseudogenes lack introns, have poly-adenine features at the 3'end and are flanked by target site duplication. Processed pseudogenes lack a promoter and are therefore dependent upon the location of its insertion for becoming transcriptionally active. Vast majority of pseudogenes are processed pseudogenes²¹² and are thought to be a result of burst in retrotransposone activity in ancestral primates about 40 million years ago.

Unprocessed pseudogenes are duplicated gene loci that often are inserted near the parental gene. This process occurs when cells in DNA replication make an extra copy of a gene locus (Figure 6). Duplicated pseudogenes can therefore bare parts or full replicas of parental genes including promoters, introns and exons²¹³.

Unlike unprocessed and processed pseudogenes that arise from genomic insertion, unitary pseudogenes are genes that have lost their function and therefore do not have a functional parental gene in the genome. There could also be an argument for these genes gaining a new function²¹⁰.



Figure 6 Pseudogenization occurs through duplication or retrotransposition from mRNA consequently followed by mutations. Transcribed pseudogenes can act a competitive endogenous RNAs (modified from²¹⁴).

1.4.1 Pseudogenes as competitive endogenous RNA

Recent data shows that pseudogenes can regulate their parent counterpart on the transcriptional level. The tumor suppressor gene PTEN has a pseudogene (PTENpg1, *PTENp1*, *PTEN* ψ) located on chromosome 9 that has high sequence homology with only 18 nt mismatches throughout the sequence. The 3'UTR of *PTENpg1* is about 1 kb shorter than that of PTEN. It possesses two regions, one with very high homology and another one with low homology to PTEN. Therefore, within the high homology region of PTENpg1 the PTENtargeting miR-17, miR-21, miR-214, miR-19 and miR-26 families have perfect matches in seed sequences, and some miRNAs are capable of repressing both PTEN and PTENpg1 transcripts. Upregulation of the 3'UTR of PTENpg1 showed a de-repression of PTEN transcripts and protein levels, indicating that PTENpg1 can act as a decoy of competing miRNAs¹⁴¹(Figure 6). Interestingly, in the same study a similar observation was seen between the proto-oncogene KRAS and its pseudogene $KRASP1^{141}$. Further, *PTEN* deletions are a common event in human melanomas²¹⁵ and partial or full deletions of *PTENpg1* are found in 21% of melanoma tissues. Nine out of 33 samples with PTENpg1 deletions showed reduced PTEN expression suggesting a competitive endogenous RNA (ceRNA) network between *PTEN* and *PTENpg1*²¹⁶. Another study showed the *PTENpg1* to be downregulated due to methylation in clear-cell renal cell carcinoma and overexpression of *PTENpg1* reduces cell proliferation, invasion, tumor growth and metastasis²¹⁷. In this study the pseudogene PTENpg1 served as a ceRNA to modulate PTEN expression by miR21 regulation.

The proto-oncogene, BRAF has a pseudogene that is frequently overexpressed in various tumor types^{218,219} and ceRNA network between BRAF and its pseudogene in humans and in mice has been reported. Interestingly, overexpression of the BRAF pseudogene in mice,

Braf-rs1, causes aggressive malignancy resembling B-cell lymphoma while silencing of its human ortholog, *BRAFP1* effected MAPK signaling and proliferation in human cancer cells²²⁰.

The ceRNA network has also been proposed for lncRNA and mRNA that are thought to regulate each other²²¹⁻²²³, whereas the lncRNAs can sequester miRNA away from mRNAs. But the ceRNA network has also received some critics. A recent study tried to address this by expressing varying amounts of a competitor RNA to the very abundant miR-122 (120.000 molecules per hepatocyte). The results showed that about 150.000 miR-122 binding sites were needed in order to affect the expression of an endogenous mRNA, a target of miR-122 ²²⁴. However, the RNA expression levels are not even nearly close to generate this amount of binding sites. Another study showed that ceRNA network was not effective for highly expressed miRNAs; however, the ceRNA network could be fully functional in a physiological setting for the low expressed miRNA²²⁵.

1.4.2 Antisense transcription from pseudogenes

About 20% of pseudogenes have shown to have antisense transcript and vast majority of them are coming from duplicated pseudogenes. This phenomenon gives rise to the possibility for antisense transcripts to influence its parental gene in trans^{226,227}. In 1992, the first antisense transcript from a eukaryotic topoisomerase I (TOPI) pseudogene was discovered in humans. Although at that time the function of this antisense transcript was not described, it was speculated that antisense transcripts to a pseudogene would function through RNA:RNA duplex formation²²⁸. Few years later another antisense transcript from the fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) pseudogene in mouse was reported. The study confirmed the transcript to be tissue specific although they did not address its function²²⁹. Still to date, verv few studies managed to reveal how these antisense transcripts function. Studies on antisense transcripts from the NOS and Oct4 pseudogenes are examples of these attempts. A pseudogene to the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) gene is found in the central nervous system of snails. This pseudogene has an antisense homology region to the parental gene and functions in *trans* by forming a RNA:RNA duplex, which leads to decreased translation of the NOS gene²³⁰. The pluripotency-associated factor *Oct4* has six related pseudogenes (Oct4-pg1- $(6)^{231}$. One of those pseudogenes (*Oct4-pg5*) has an antisense transcript that negatively regulates Oct4-pg4 and Oct4-pg5. This antisense is thought to function by mediating epigenetic silencing at the *Oct4* promoter²⁰⁹.

1.4.3 Pseudogenes: source for endo-siRNA

SiRNA can arise between two transcripts that share complementary regions. Pseudogenes share high homology with their parental genes providing a possible source for endo-siRNAs. Endo-siRNAs are common small RNA in plants and are known to be produced by RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) that catalyzes the replication of RNA from a RNA template. In mammals the existence and biogenesis of endo-siRNAs are obscure, however, there is evidence for their existence as mentioned here. Endo-siRNAs can be formed when a

spliced transcript from a protein coding gene forms a RNA duplex with an antisense transcript emitting from a pseudogenes or when pseudogenes have inverted repeats that bind to a transcript from the parental ancestral gene²³². Another *in vivo* study on growing mouse oocytes found an endo-siRNA being regulated by the RNAi pathway, a unique way for pseudogenes to regulate mRNAs²³³.

1.5 EPIGENETICS- A LNCRNA PERSPECTIVE

Epigenetic modifications at gene promoters play a major role in creating discrepancy between tissues and individual cells. LncRNAs have been recognized as effectors of epigenetic changes at specific gene promoters. For epigenetic changes to take place at a gene promoter, an orchestrated effort of different components is vital. Here, the epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation and histone modification will be discussed.

DNA methylation

CpG islands span a tiny fraction of the whole genome covering around 0.7% and are usually located in gene promoters^{234,235}. DNA methylation is a biochemical modification of the DNA, where DNA methyltransferases catalyze the transfer of a methyl group (CH₃) onto a carbon group located at the C5 position of the pyrimidine ring of cytosines and this occurs predominantly at CpG islands^{236,237}. This reaction is catalyzed by a family of DNA methyltransferases identified as DNMT1, DNMT3a, DNMT3b and DNMT3L²³⁸.

Unlike other family members, DNMT1 can identify hemi-methylated portion of newly replicated DNA and maintain the methylation status at specific gene loci. A study on methylation investigated RNA transcripts associated with DNMT1 and found frequent interaction between RNAs and DNMT1 at numerous gene loci. These DNMT1 bound RNAs are thought to evict DNMT1 from their site of expression. One example showed DNMT1 binding to a lncRNA called extra coding CEBP α (ecCEBP α) arising in the sense direction from the methylation-sensitive gene CEBPa, which prevented methylation of the $CEBP\alpha$ gene locus²³⁹. Interestingly, the DNA methylation levels were inversely correlated with ecCEBPa expression levels. Although there is uncertainty regarding the mechanism of RNA binding to proteins, the study suggests a stem-loop structure that could possibly facilitate the interaction between ecCEBPa and DNMT1²³⁹. In contrast to previous study lncRNAs can also keep DNMT1 at site. For example, the lncRNA *Kcnq1ot1* interacts with DNMT1 in mice and mediates silencing of ubiquitously imprinted genes by binding to DNMT1 and keeping it in place for maintaining allele-specific methylation²⁴⁰. *Dum* is another lncRNA that interacts with DNMT1 along with other DNMT family members. In skeletal myoblasts, *Dum* is upregulated in the differentiation process and effects in a *cis* action the expression of nearby genes by interacting with DNMT family members²⁴¹. In order to address this more globally Merry et. al. did RNA immunoprecipitation (RIP) of DNMT1 and sequencing of associated RNAs revealed 148 lncRNA bound to DNMT1 in HCT116 cells. Interestingly, only 31 mRNAs were pulled down indicating that DNMT1 has increased affinity for lncRNA²⁴².

DNMT3a and DNMT3b are *de novo* methyltransferases²⁴³ that catalyze the transfer of a methyl group onto cytosine. There is also some new evidence that they can maintain methylation²⁴⁴. In spite of the importance of this enzyme there are still facades of DNMT3a that remains to be elucidated. In order to investigate the role of DNMT3a on transcriptional repression one study fused DNMT3a to Cas9 enzyme and targeted it to specific gene loci. Interestingly, this resulted in only moderate transcriptional repression²⁴⁵ and not strong gene silencing that normally is obtained upon DNMT3 binding to promoters. Possibly, DNMT3a needs to form a complex with other proteins in order to maximize its function. DNMT3a has been shown to bind to the DNA methyltransferase 3- like protein (DNMT3L) and the chromatin remodeling ATPase, LSH, that assist DNMT3a in enhancing its DNA affinity or activity^{246,247}. In addition, PIWI proteins can recognize transposons that have escaped de novo methylation and this leads to recruitment of DNMT3a to transposons. Until recently it has been poorly understood how DNMT3a finds its way to promoters of differentially expressed genes. LncRNAs have been suggested to bind to and recruit DNMT3a to gene promoters and influence gene expression. For example; in the very intrinsic process of X chromosomal activation, the lncRNA Tsix recruits DNMT3a to the promoter of *Xist*, which leads to epigenetic silencing 151,248 . In addition, the aforementioned lncRNA *Dum* has also been shown to interact with $DNMT3a^{241}$.

Histone modification

Polycomb group proteins (PcG) function in two complexes, PRC1 and PRC2, which trigger histone modifications that subsequently lead to transcription silencing.

Polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2)

The PRC2 complex is conserved from *Drosophila* and causes mono-, di- or tri- methylation of histone 3 at lysine 27 (H3K27me3)²⁴⁹⁻²⁵¹. The main players of the PRC2 complex are the following PcG components; enhancer of zeste 2 (EZH2) (or its homolog EZH1), suppressor of zeste 12 (SUZ12) and embryonic ectoderm development (EED). EZH2 or EZH1 act as the catalytic subunit and SUZ12 - as the regulatory subunit of PRC2. In *Drosophila*, the PRC2 is recruited to the DNA by sequences called polycomb response elements (PRE)²⁵² and this process is thought to occur independent of other proteins. The recruitment of PRC2 complex in humans however has been a matter of debate. Indeed, PRC2 complex binds predominantly to CpG islands but the DNA sequence itself can not directly recruit the complex and therefore the recruitment has to be mediated through other components. Transcription factors²⁵³, methyltransferases²⁵⁴ and lncRNAs^{150,170} have all been suggested as major players in this process.

The lncRNA *HOTAIR* and the *RepA* element of Xist were the first lncRNA that were suggested to bind to and recruit PRC2 to the specific gene loci^{150,170}. In addition, a genome wide study showed that about 20% of all lincRNAs are bound to PRC2 complex¹⁷¹. Since

then there have been several reports showing interaction between lncRNA and the PRC2 complex^{10,255}. These studies have prompted further investigation on the connection between PRC2 and lncRNA.

Although RNAs can physically bind to the PRC2 complex, this RNA:protein interaction is poorly understood. Recent studies have shown promiscuous binding of the PRC2 complex to RNAs. For example, EZH2 has been found to promiscuously bind to RNAs with submicromolar affinity *in vitro*²⁵⁶ and the PRC2 complex can bind to nascent RNA transcript at nearly all active genes, possibly protecting the DNA from inappropriate PRC2 binding²⁵⁷. SUZ12 has also been shown to be capable of interacting with RNAs^{258,259}. Although the binding affinity between EZH2 and PRC2 is higher than of SUZ12, one study suggests that SUZ12 is the leading protein in establishing contact between PRC2 and RNAs²⁵⁷.

Some studies have tried to establish in greater depth the physical interaction between PRC2 and RNAs. One such study showed that the PRC2 complex is more likely to bind to exonintron boundaries and to 3'UTRs. It has also been suggested that the PRC2 complex has a higher affinity for RNA motifs that include short repeats of consecutive guanines²⁶⁰ as well as to short hairpins structures within RNAs¹⁵⁰.

The interaction between *HOTAIR* and PRC2 complex has been fairly well studied however there still remains some discrepancy in their relationship. A study showed that in spite of strong binding between *HOTAIR* and PRC2, that the transcriptional mediated silencing by *HOTAIR* could still be carried out without the PRC2 complex²⁶¹. This study used artificial tethering of *HOTAIR* to chromatin and suggested the recruitment of PRC2 to be a consequence of gene silencing rather than a cause. *HOTAIR* can also bind to another repressive chromatin modifying complex (LSD1/coREST/REST) that catalysis demethylation of H3K4me2¹⁷³. Therefore, a better fundamental understanding of the relationship of PRC2 and lncRNAs is needed.

Polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1)

The PRC1 complex is typically composed of Bmi1/Mel8, mPh1/2, Pc/Chromobox and RingA/B proteins. PRC1 is rather thought to maintain repressed chromatin but can also monoubiquitinate histone H2AK119 causing transcriptional silencing by inhibiting the elongation of RNA pol II²⁶². The PRC1 complex can recognize trimethylation of H3K27, which surfs as a docking site for the PRC1 subunit, chromobox-domain. In addition, the PRC1 complex is also thought to interact with RNAs and the aforementioned antisense transcript *ANRIL* binds to CBX7 of the PRC1 complex and represses transcription¹⁶³.

Associations between DNA methylation and histone modification

DNA methylation and histone modifications both contribute to gene silencing; however DNA methylation establishes more of a long term silencing while modification of histones can more easily be converted. In spite of fundamental differences in how these two pathways induce silencing they exhibit cross-talk where they can guide each other to chromatin. It is unclear if this cross-talk happens through the modifications themselves or through the protein-protein interaction.

EZH2 can facilitate DNMTs binding to promoters that are repressed by EZH2 and the presence of EZH2 is essential for DNMT methylation at these promoters²⁵⁴. In addition, H3K27me3 enriched promoters in embryonic stem cells are more likely to be DNA methylated during differentiation and carcinogenesis than those that lack H3K27me3²⁶³⁻²⁶⁵. Also, other epigenetic complexes can influence and support each other's functions. G9 and GLP are Histone H3 Lysine 9 methyltransferases that can mono- or di-methylate's H3K9. G9a and GLP can physically interact and are thought to functionally interact with each other through a subunit of EZH2²⁶⁶. Taken together, histone modifications and DNA methylations seem to facilitate each other however the exact underlying mechanism needs to be elucidated.

AIMS OF THIS THESIS

The overall aim of this thesis is to expand and deepen our understanding of the functional role of lncRNAs in molecular processes and to investigate their involvement in cancer, particularly in cutaneous malignant melanoma.

Paper I:

The aim of **paper I** was to untangle the regulation of expression of the tumor suppressor PTEN and the functional role of the PTEN pseudogene antisense transcript (*PTENpg1 asRNA*) in this process.

Paper II:

The aim of **paper II** was to unravel the molecular mechanism of the recruitment of *PTENpg1 asRNA* to the PTEN promoter by investigating the role of paRNA emitting from the 5'UTR of *PTEN*.

Paper III:

The aim of **paper III** was to explore the down regulation of PTEN expression and the involvement of *PTENpg1 asRNA* in the drug resistance in melanoma using vemurafenibresistant cell lines as well as investigation of *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression levels in melanoma patient samples. We also aimed to reveal the regulation of *PTENpg1 asRNA* by the transcription factor *CEBP* β .

Paper IV:

The aim of **paper IV** was to investigate the role of *CEBP\beta-AS* in the regulation of *CEBP\beta* expression and consequently in drug sensitivity in vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cell lines.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

1.6 PAPER I

A pseudogene long-noncoding-RNA network regulates PTEN transcription and translation in human cells

1.6.1 Rational

Pseudogenes were once thought as genomic fossil or "junk" DNA; however in recent years they are gaining attention for being functional^{141,220}. For example, the *PTEN* pseudogene (*PTENpg1, PTENp1, PTENψ*) has been shown to function as a mircoRNA sponge that soaks up miRNAs and sequesters them away from their targets¹⁴¹. Pseudogenes can also be a source for antisense transcription and these overlapping transcripts often share sequence complementarity to their protein-coding counterparts. Although it has been clear that antisense transcription was emitting from pseudogenes²²⁶, functional studies of this phenomenon are rare but it has been reported that an asRNA emitting from the Oct4-pseudogene 5 affects the expression levels of its protein coding counterpart, Oct4²⁰⁹. Here we aimed to investigate an antisense transcript emitting from the *PTENpg1* and its effect on the tumor suppressor gene *PTEN*. In addition, we set out to untangle the distinctive roles of various isoforms of *PTENpg1 asRNA*.

1.6.2 Main findings and discussions

The PTENpg1 encodes an antisense RNA

Initially, we observed one aligned EST (Expressed sequence tags) designated as BX374997 in the UCSC (University of California, Santa Cruz) genome browser. This EST was located upstream of the PTENpg1 transcription start site (TSS), which encouraged us to look further into the possibility of an antisense transcription emitting from the PTENpg1 locus. Additionally, the ENCODE ChIP-sequencing data showed enrichment of the active transcriptional histone mark H3K4me3 and the RNA pol II at two different locations within the PTENpg1 locus, indicating two different TSS that overlap with the PTENpg1 sense promoter. To experimentally validate these indications from the UCSC genome browser we performed 5'RACE and designed primer walks. This analysis indicated two TSS giving rise to at least two different isoforms that we designated as α and β . Fractionation analysis showed both of the spliced *PTENpg1 asRNA* α and β isoforms to be found predominantly in the cytoplasm while an unspliced PTENpg1 asRNA was expressed solely in the nucleus. We attempted to further untangle the diversity of isoforms of PTENpg1 asRNA using Northern blotting, however, without any success. This was possibly due to the fact that the antisense transcript is composed of two segments: one with high sequence complementarity to the PTEN gene and the other - with highly repetitive elements (mostly LINE repeats) making it difficult to design specific probes.

PTENpg1 asRNA a recruits epigenetic modifiers to silence PTEN transcription

We investigated the expression levels of the discovered transcripts in a panel of human cell lines and, interestingly, their expression inversely correlated to the PTEN mRNA expression levels. This prompted us to explore if knockdown of *PTENpg1* asRNA α with siRNA or shRNA would affect the expression of PTEN. Indeed, PTEN levels were elevated after *PTENpg1 asRNA* knockdowns, and this induction was seen already at the pre-mRNA levels indicating an effect on transcription. This was further supported by nuclear run-on assay and ChIP for RNA pol II binding at the PTEN promoter. Next, we fluorinated and biotin-linked the *PTENpg1 asRNA* in order to investigate if the *PTENpg1 asRNA* binds to the *PTEN* promoter. Pull-down of the biotin-linked transcript showed that *PTENpg1 asRNA* localizes to the PTEN promoter. Further, we knocked down EZH2 and DNMT3a and observed induced expression of PTEN, while simultaneous knockdown of EZH2 and PTENpg1 asRNA α showed no additive effect, indicating that these factors work in the same pathway. RIP showed an existing interaction between the *PTENpg1 asRNA* and DNMT3a supporting the hypothesis that they form a RNA-protein complex together. In order to investigate if the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α recruits EZH2 and DNMT3a to the *PTEN* promoter, ChIP analysis was carried out, and we observed a decreased enrichment of EZH2 and H3K27me3 at the PTEN promoter after depletion of *PTENpg1* as RNA α . Further, siRNA depletion of *PTENpg1* asRNA α resulted in induced protein levels of PTEN and concomitant downregulation of the pAKT, and therefore inhibition of the PI3K/AKT pathway. This also resulted in reduced levels of the cell cycle regulator p21, and FACS analysis showed a G0-G1 arrest after *PTENpg1 asRNA* α depletion.

Although studies have reported lncRNAs to guide DNMT3a to gene loci, our study was the first to our knowledge that demonstrated an interaction between lncRNAs and DNMT3a. Since our study was published, there have been at least two other publication showing an interaction between lncRNAs and DNMT3a^{241,267}.

Taken together, *PTENpg1 asRNA* α recruits the epigenetic modifying proteins, EZH2 and DNMT3a to the promoter of *PTEN*, which consequently leads to epigenetic silencing of the tumor suppressor. This is in agreement with accumulating data on the interaction of ncRNAs with epigenetic modifiers ^{163,209,254,268}. In addition, these results add to the understanding of possible functional roles of pseudogene transcripts in transcriptional silencing.

PTENpg1 asRNA β stabilizes its sense transcript through RNA:RNA interaction

Sense-antisense transcripts have shown to form a partial duplex that stabilizes the transcripts^{168,269} and therefore we sought out to explore if the *PTENpg1 asRNA* could stabilize its sense transcript through such interactions. We observed that the *PTENpg1* sense transcript lacks a poly-A tail; poly-A tailing of RNA transcripts usually leads to an increased RNA stability and assists in shuttling of RNAs from the nucleus to the cytoplasm ²⁷⁰⁻²⁷². By blocking transcription with Actinomycin D, however, similar stability was found for the polyA-tail lacking *PTENpg1* sense, as well as for *PTEN* and the *PTENpg1 asRNA*. When we

used endoribonuclease RNase-A to digest single stranded RNA, we observed an overlapping region of the transcripts that was not degraded clearly pointing at the formation of duplexes. We then used antisense phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) and shRNA to interfere with the interaction between the *PTENpg1* sense and *asRNA* β that both resulted in a decreased expression of the sense transcript. Interestingly, this also led to decreased expression of PTEN at the RNA as well as at the protein level, an observation that is in line with the previously published ceRNA network¹⁴¹. Although the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α transcript shares a longer sequence overlap than *PTENpg1 asRNA* β with PTENpg1 sense we did not observe any binding between *PTENpg1 sense* and *asRNA* α . Interestingly, the *WRAP53* asRNA (see section 1.3.2) has been reported to have at least three different isoforms, among those only one forming an RNA:RNA interaction with its sense counterpart, *p53*¹⁶⁸. A possible explanation is that some isoforms might form specific secondary structures or bind to proteins that block potential interactions. Further studies are needed in order to understand this phenomenon in more details.

Taken together, *PTENpg1 asRNA* β stabilizes the *PTENpg1* sense transcript through an RNA:RNA interaction and our findings also suggest that *PTENpg1 asRNA* β is involved in export of the PTENpg1 sense transcript where it serves as miRNA sponge. Unlike its α transcript, *PTENpg1 asRNA* β functions at the post-transcriptional level.

1.7 PAPER II

The molecular dynamics of long noncoding RNA control of transcription in PTEN and its pseudogene

1.7.1 Rational

Subtle changes of *PTEN* alter cancer susceptibility⁶¹ and it is therefore vital for the gene to be under tight regulation in order to keep adequate expression levels. The aforementioned *PTENpg1 asRNA* network fine-tunes *PTEN* expression by recruitment of chromatin remodeling proteins to the *PTEN* promoter. However, it is poorly understood how lncRNAs that are functioning in *trans* can find their way to gene promoters. Previously, small transiently transfected RNAs directed towards promoter associated RNAs have been shown to mediate transcriptional regulation of protein coding genes^{208,273}. Here, we set out to investigate if the *PTEN* locus encodes for such promoter associated RNAs and whether such transcripts are involved in recruitment of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α to the promoter of *PTEN*, possibly through RNA:RNA interactions.

1.7.2 Main findings and discussions

Detection of PTEN promoter-associated RNA/5'UTR transcript

In the UCSC genome database, ESTs were found to span the *PTEN* 5'UTR. We used strandspecific directional reverse transcription (RT) PCR to detect if these transcripts exist in cellular settings. Indeed, a 5'UTR transcript spanning this region was detected; it was, however, difficult to further characterize it due to its extensive overlap with other *PTEN* associated transcripts. In order to explore the functional role of this transcript we designed a single-stranded antisense ODNs targeting the *PTEN* paRNA/5'UTR transcript. ODNs are single-stranded DNA oligos with the capacity to hybridize to the targeted RNA in a sequence-specific manner and sterically interfere with the targeted transcript. The ODNs used in this study are phosphorothioate ODNs, which are resistant to nucleases. We designed multiple phosphorothioate ODNs and picked one, ODN2, with the capacity to interfere with paRNA/5'UTR. Interestingly, a biotin-labeled ODN2 also managed to pull-down PTEN-5'UTR associated transcripts, including the full length of *PTEN* mRNA.

The PTEN paRNA/5'UTR transcript interacts with the PTENpg1 as RNA network

ODN2 inhibition of the *PTEN paRNA/5'UTR* transcript resulted in less binding of DNMT3a at the *PTEN* promoter and consequently less CpG methylation, indicating a role for the *PTEN paRNA/5'UTR* transcript in the recruitment of DNMT3a to the *PTEN promoter*. These observations prompted us to further investigate if the *PTEN paRNA/5'UTR* transcript interacts with the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network, previously shown to mediate recruitment of DNMT3a to the *PTEN promoter* (see paper I). We initially immunoprecipitated DNMT3a and discovered that both the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α exon 1 and the *PTEN* paRNA/5'UTR transcript could bind to DNMT3a, suggesting that these RNA transcripts could interact by forming RNA:RNA duplexes. To address this more specifically, HEK293 cells were co-

transfected with biotin-labeled *PTENpg1 asRNA* α transcript and ODN2. Pull-down of the biotinylated RNA showed less binding to *PTEN* paRNA/5'UTR transcript after ODN2 transfection, supporting that ODN2 indeed interfered with an interaction between paRNA/5'UTR and *PTENpg1 asRNA*. In addition, the interaction was stable upon RNase A treatment, which predominantly targets single-stranded RNA structures, further suggesting the presence of RNA:RNA interactions.

Next, we set out to investigate the binding between *PTENpg1 asRNA* α and paRNA/5'UTR in more detail. To this end, various truncations of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α exon 1 were labeled with biotin and transfected into HEK293 cells. Again the biotin-labeled transcripts were pulled down and we observed binding to the *PTEN* promoter by two variants, F4R1 and F5R2, and the full-length transcript. Strikingly, only the F4R1 variant and the full-length *PTENpg1 asRNA* α exon 1 transcripts were capable of directing DNMT3a to the *PTEN* promoter while this capacity was lost for the F5R2 transcript.

Analyses of secondary RNA structures suggested that both the F4R1 variant and *PTENpg1* asRNA α exon 1 have a major loop structure. We hypothesized that this loop structure could be important for the recruitment of DNMT3a to the *PTEN* promoter and therefore generated multiple truncations of this loop. Indeed, the truncations lead to the inability to bind to *PTEN* promoter indicating that the loop structure is necessary for the *PTEN* promoter targeting. Interestingly, the sequence of the loop structure maps to a locus where we observed high levels of DNMT3a and *PTENpg1* asRNA α .

Taken together, the *PTEN* paRNA/5'UTR transcript binds and assists the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α exon 1 transcript in recruiting DNMT3a to the promoter of *PTEN*, which causes epigenetic silencing of *PTEN*. The function of *PTEN* paRNA/5'UTR transcript in epigenetic silencing of the *PTEN* promoter adds to the regulatory layers of the tumor suppressor. The *PTEN* paRNA/5'UTR transcripts that can originate from the same promoter and one of the diverse functions they are capable to carry out. Most importantly, our studies on *PTEN* illustrate the presence of multiple functional non-coding RNAs, long as well as short, with the capacity to regulate the same gene.

Interestingly, this study suggests the existence of a major loop structure of the *PTENpg1* asRNA transcript important for its functional role; however, more studies will be needed in order to fully understand the structural interaction between the *PTEN* promoter and *PTEN* associated transcripts, as well as *PTENpg1* asRNA and DNMT3a. For example, are there specific nucleotide sequences within the loop structure that are important for the recruitment of DNMT3a or is it just the loop structure itself? Further, is it the stem and/or the loop that maintains the function and how is the localization of *PTENpg1* asRNA coordinated with the recruitment of DNMT3a?

1.8 PAPER III

PTENpg1 antisense RNA mediates *PTEN* suppression in vemurafenib resistance and predicts clinical outcome in melanoma patients

1.8.1 Rational

Although BRAF^{V600E} inhibitors (e.g. vemurafenib) improve survival rates for cutaneous melanoma patients, almost all patients will eventually develop drug resistance. Reduced PTEN expression, e.g. through epigenetic inactivation, has been suggested to be involved in the development of melanoma and also to contribute to vemurafenib resistance^{68,99,274}. We therefore speculated that the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network could mediate suppression of *PTEN* upon the development of resistance to vemurafenib and possibly also be involved in the development of melanoma.

1.8.2 Main findings and discussions

PTENpg1 asRNA expression is induced in vemurafenib resistant A375 melanoma cell lines

In order to investigate the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network we produced vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cell lines by culturing the melanoma cell line A375 at increasing doses of vemurafenib/PLX47020 for extended period of time. Next, we measured *PTEN* and *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression to see if the drug-resistant melanoma cell lines had acquired changes in their expression levels. All resistant cell lines (A375 PR1, A375 PR3 and A375 PR4) showed upregulation of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* and sense transcripts, and downregulation of *PTEN* levels. PTENpg1 sense has previously been shown to sequester miRNA away from *PTEN* mRNAs¹⁴¹, and we therefore measured the *PTEN* mRNA and protein level expression. Strikingly, we did not observe the expected effect from the miRNA sponging activity, which would be manifested by an increased expression of *PTEN*, but instead - suppression of *PTEN* in all resistant cell lines. These data therefore suggest that *PTENpg1 asRNA* is the dominant regulator of *PTEN* in this model system.

Next, we more specifically investigated which *PTENpg1 asRNA* isoform was being induced in the resistant cell lines. We predominantly observed induced expression of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α isoform in the A375 PR1 cell line and the transcript was also specifically enriched in the nuclear fraction. We next investigated if suppression of *PTEN* is a reversible process and if knockdown of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α could reactivate *PTEN* expression. We designed gapmer antisense oligonucleotides (ASO) that specifically target the nuclear pool of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α transcripts and indeed observed that knockdown of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α induced *PTEN* expression in the resistant cell lines; strikingly, this was not the case in the sensitive cells.

EZH2 and DNMT3a mediate epigenetic silencing of the PTEN promoter in A375 vemurafenib-resistant cell lines

These observations motivated us to further investigate if epigenetic silencing caused low PTEN mRNA and protein levels in A375 PR1. We used the McrBc enzyme that cleaves methylated DNA at Pu^mCG sequence elements to assess DNA methylation at the *PTEN* promoter in the A375 and A375 PR1 cell lines. We observed increased enzymatic digestion at the *PTEN* promoter in the A375 PR1 cell line compared to the A375 cell line thus indicating enrichment of methylated DNA. Further, knockdown of EZH2 and DNMT3a caused upregulation of *PTEN* in the A375 PR1 resistant cells, while not affecting *PTEN* in the sensitive cells. These results indicate that epigenetic silencing of the *PTEN* promoter in A375 PR1 cell line is mediated through EZH2 and DNMT3a. The histone methyltransferase EZH2 is a subunit of the PRC2 complex that mediates tri-methylation on histone 3 lysine 27 and has also been reported to interact with DNMT3a, thus bridging chromatin remodeling and DNA methylation together²⁵⁴. Therefore, we pulled down EZH2 and its downstream target H3K27me3 and found both to be enriched at *PTEN* promoter in A375 PR1 resistant cell lines. In addition, we pulled down EZH2 and DNMT3a and observed binding to *PTENpg1* asRNA.

This allowed us to propose a model for epigenetic silencing of *PTEN* in the vemurafenibresistant A375 melanoma cell line caused by *PTENpg1 asRNA* α that recruits epigenetic modifying proteins, EZH2 and DNMT3a, to silence *PTEN* transcription.

Interestingly, the expression of *PTENpg1 asRNA* and *PTENpg1 sense* was concordantly upregulated in the resistant A375 cell lines. However, we observed a negative correlation between the *PTENpg1 asRNA* and *PTEN*, which indicates an epigenetic regulation of *PTEN* instead of a positive correlation that would be expected from a ceRNA network. One could speculate that equimolar concentrations of all components of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network are necessary to observe the effect; alternatively, very low expression of *PTENpg1 asRNA* are sufficient to carry out epigenetic silencing at the *PTEN* promoter while higher expressions of *PTENp1* sense, than seen in the A375 resistant cell lines, is needed to sponge away miRNAs.

The transcription factor C/EBP β induces transcription of PTENpg1 asRNA α in vemurafenibresistant A375 cell line.

In order to investigate the underlying mechanisms to induction of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α we set out to identify transcription factors potentially regulating expression of this locus. ChIP data from the ENCODE project showed strong binding of the transcription factor C/EBP β upstream from the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α transcriptional start site. C/EBP β was confirmed to be upregulated in the A375 PR1 cell line compared to A375 cell line, and knockdown of C/EBP β caused downregulation of *PTENpg1 asRNA* α and, consequently, induced expression of *PTEN*. Interestingly, knockdown of C/EBP β did not appear to reduce the expression of *PTENpg1* sense. In addition, C/EBP β was enriched at the *PTENpg1 asRNA* promoter in the resistant A375 PR1 compared to the sensitive A375 cell lines. Taken together, C/EBP β is upregulated in the A375 PR1 cell line and appears to be an important regulator of *PTENpg1* asRNA. Thus, this is the first TF identified regulating this locus, and it appears to act on a strand-specific level (on the antisense strand). We speculate that C/EBP β is binding to the consensus sequence GTTGCGCAAT, this sequence is not found within the matching region of *PTEN* (~70 kb downstream from the *PTEN* TSS). In line with this, there is no indication from the ENCODE ChIP sequencing data that C/EBP β could have binding sites at this position on *PTEN* or of a transcript emitting from this locus. Further, the nucleotides that make up the consensus sequence for this TF in the *PTEN* pseudogene are located on separate exons in *PTEN*, suggesting that during pseudogenization the *PTEN* pseudogene has acquired a regulatory sequence that is not found in the DNA of its parental gene.

Increased cell death upon targeting of the PTENpg1 asRNA α network in vemurefenibresistant melanoma cell lines and PTENpg1 asRNA α as a potential biomarker

Next, we set out to investigate if disruption of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network could resensitize vemurafenib-resistant A375 melanoma cell lines to vemurafenib through reactivation of *PTEN*, and a consequently suppressed PI3K/AKT survival pathway. Simultaneous knockdown of EZH2 and DNMT3a induced cell death in the resistant A375 cell lines when combined with vemurafenib treatment. In line with this, knockdown of *C/EBPβ* as well as *PTENpg1 asRNA* also resulted in increased cell death upon vemurafenib treatment in A375 resistant cell lines. These results encouraged us to further investigate the clinical impact of *PTENpg1 asRNA* in melanoma patients. To this end, we used two different cohorts of stage III melanoma patients, and in both cohorts, we determined *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression in lymph node metastases by RT-qPCR. The first cohort patients were further divided into groups with long or short overall survival. Interestingly, patients with high *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression showed shorter survival. In the second cohort we divided the groups according to high or low expression of *PTENpg1* asRNA. The survival plot showed a significant difference in the overall survival of melanoma patients between groups with high or low *PTENpg1 asRNA* expression.

Here we described a novel role for the *PTENpg1 asRNA* in vemurafenib resistance in melanoma cell lines. DNMT3a and EZH2 were enriched at the *PTEN* promoter in the vemurafenib-resistant A375 cell lines. We observed interaction of these proteins with *PTENpg1 asRNA*, and propose that the *PTENpg1 asRNA* is mediating the recruitment of EZH2 and DNMT3a causing tri-methylation on lysine K27 on Histone 3 and DNA methylation of the *PTEN* promoter. Taken together, experimental manipulation of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network can re-sensitize resistant A375 melanoma cell lines to vemurafenib treatment and manipulation of the *PTENpg1 asRNA* network may provide us with a therapeutic tool to de-repress *PTEN* and consequently inhibit the PI3K/AKT pathway. Moreover, the levels of *PTENpg1 asRNA* can represent a potential predictive biomarker for cutaneous malignant melanoma patients.

1.9 PAPER IV

C/EBPβ-AS inhibits transcription of C/EBPβ through a negative feedback loop

1.9.1 Rational

Transcription factors have been extensively studied as important regulators of genes' activity and the dynamic mechanism of their transcriptional regulation is of a great interest. C/EBP β is a versatile transcription factor that regulates multicellular functions, and deregulation of this transcription factor has been implicated in various types of cancer^{103, 124, 121, 119}. In **paper III** we found *C/EBP\beta* to be a transcriptional regulator of *PTENpg1* asRNA. This prompted us to investigate the involvement of *C/EBP\beta* in cancer development by using the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) dataset and further, what dictates the transcriptional expression of *C/EBP\beta*. Previously, antisense transcripts have been shown to transcriptionally regulate their sense counter parts^{149,156,157} and therefore we sought out to investigate if the annotated antisense RNA transcript of *C/EBP\beta* could regulate its transcription.

1.9.2 Main findings and discussions

Expression patterns of C/EBP β and C/EBP β -AS in human tumors and relation to overall survival

In order to investigate the association between $C/EBP\beta$ and $C/EBP\beta$ -AS we took advantage of TCGA database. We found that the expression of the two transcripts showed moderate or strong positive correlation to each other in 32/33 cancer types including melanoma. Furthermore, $C/EBP\beta$ and $C/EBP\beta$ -AS expression showed some correlations to patient's survival in various types of cancer. This correlation was, however, not consistent. In some cases it was the high expression while in other cancer types - it was the low expression that correlated to worse prognosis. In addition, we found that high $C/EBP\beta$ -AS expression correlated to a better prognosis in melanoma patients.

The yin and yang of $C/EBP\beta$ regulation

We noticed in the ChIP-seq data from ENCODE that C/EBP β is enriched at both *C/EBP\beta-AS* and *C/EBP\beta* promoters suggesting that it should regulate both transcripts. Therefore, we explored if knockdown of *C/EBP\beta* would affect transcription of *C/EBP\beta-AS*. Indeed, knockdown of *C/EBP\beta* showed downregulation of *C/EBP\beta-AS*, in line with the observed positive correlation between *C/EBP\beta-AS* and *C/EBP\beta* expression in human tumors.

We further set out to characterize $C/EBP\beta$ -AS and showed the transcript to be a polyadenylated RNA that localized both in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus. We decided to investigate its nuclear function in more detail, such as whether $C/EBP\beta$ -AS could be a transcriptional regulator of C/EBP β . We designed siRNAs to knockdown $C/EBP\beta$ -AS expression. Upon knockdown of $C/EBP\beta$ -AS, we observed upregulation of $C/EBP\beta$ mRNA

and protein expression in the majority of cell lines. This was in contrast to our expectations, since we had observed concordant and positive correlation between $C/EBP\beta$ -AS and $C/EBP\beta$ in human tumors.

In order to understand the negative regulation of $C/EBP\beta$ by $C/EBP\beta$ -AS, we investigated if $C/EBP\beta$ -AS expression could induce epigenetic changes at the $C/EBP\beta$ promoter. We knocked down $C/EBP\beta$ -AS and, to our surprise, observed an enrichment of EZH2 and H3K27me3 at the $C/EBP\beta$ -AS and observed more DNA methylation at the $C/EBP\beta$ promoter upon silencing of $C/EBP\beta$ -AS. Attraction of methyltransferases to the promoters, histone methylation and the methylated DNA are usually associated with gene silencing. However emerging recent data provide evidence that some specific gene loci can be activated upon DNA methylation¹¹¹⁻¹¹³. Interestingly and in line with latter observation, $C/EBP\beta$ has been shown to bind more strongly to methylated sequences leading to increased gene activity^{114,115}. Therefore, this TF may actually be attracted to methylated regions to activate gene transcription (its own, in this case). $C/EBP\beta$ -AS on the other hand, may fine-tune the activity of $C/EBP\beta$ promoter in that low levels of $C/EBP\beta$ -AS allow for the activation of $C/EBP\beta$ promoter while its increased expression may attract and sequester epigenetic factors away from the promoter.

Resensitization of vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cell lines

In paper III, we reported that suppression of C/EBP β could re-sensitize the A375 PR1 cell line to vemurafenib treatment, and therefore we set out to investigate if manipulating *C/EBP\beta-AS* levels would affect sensitivity towards vemurafenib treatment. We knocked down *C/EBP\beta-AS* in vemurafenib-sensitive and -resistant A375 as well as in dabrafenibsensitive and -resistant MNT1 cell lines, and treated the cells with two different concentrations of vemurafenib. All cell lines showed increased sensitivity towards vemurafenib treatment after *C/EBP\beta-AS* knockdown. This was an unexpected finding since a decrease in *C/EBP\beta-AS* would lead to the activation of C/EBP β . However, there are examples in the literature when overexpression of C/EBP β has been shown to cause reduced cell growth and increased cell death. For example the overexpression of C/EBP β overexpression in prostate cancer cells has been shown to reduce cell growth after doxycycline treatment²⁷⁶.

The observed sensitization to vemurafenib treatment after *C/EBPβ-AS* knockdown promoted us to further look into how *C/EBPβ-AS* affects the two major pathways that contribute to vemurefenib resistance: the PI3K/AKT and the MAPK pathways. Interestingly, our results showed that *C/EBPβ-AS* knockdown induced p-AKT (T308 and S473). This is in line with our data on C/EBPβ being a transcriptional activator of *PTENps1 asRNA*, a negative regulator of PTEN. This is also in agreement with a study suggesting C/EBPβ to be an activator of the PI3K/AKT pathway through the IL-8 cytokine²⁷⁶. It is, however, well established that activation of the PI3K/AKT and MAPK signaling pathways would promote cell proliferation and survival. It remains therefore to further reveal the molecular mechanisms of sensitization to vemurafenib by *C/EBPβ-AS* knockdown. Activation of some pathways, e.g. EGFR that also activate the PI3K/AKT pathway, can under some conditions cause cell death independent of the PI3K/AKT pathway²⁷⁷. Therefore, the hypothesis is that activation of other proteins through C/EBPβ is important to trigger increased vemurafenib sensitivity upon *C/EBPβ-AS* knockdown. Alternatively, manipulation of *C/EBPβ-AS* levels affects other pathways by acting in *trans* on other genes' promoters.

Taken together, we characterized a novel transcript, *C/EBPβ-AS* that can be induced by and fine-tune the expression of C/EBPβ. Manipulation of C/EBPβ levels can clearly reverse the resistance towards vemurafenib in melanoma cell lines, and so does knockdown of *C/EBPβ-AS*. However, the exact mechanism behind this remains unclear. We have also revealed an unusual affinity of C/EBPβ to its own methylated promoter in that levels of *C/EBPβ-AS* play a crucial role in mediating these epigenetic changes.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The results of the work included in this thesis revealed novel regulatory mechanisms and the role of ncRNAs in cancer. The main findings are:

- An antisense RNA emitting from the *PTEN* pseudogene, *PTENpg1 asRNA*, can transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally regulate the tumor suppressor gene *PTEN*.
- *PTENpg1 asRNA* α recruits epigenetic modifying proteins to the *PTEN* promoter.
- *PTENpg1 asRNA* β binds to and stabilizes the *PTENpg1 sense*.
- A *PTEN* 5'UTR/promoter associated transcripts assist the *PTENpg1 asRNA* α transcript to the *PTEN* promoter mediating recruitment of DNMT3a and consequently leads to epigenetic silencing of the promoter.
- The *PTENpg1 asRNA* contributes to vemurafenib resistance by mediating epigenetic silencing of *PTEN* in melanoma cells.
- *PTENpg1 asRNA* is a potential biomarker in melanoma patients.
- The transcription factor C/EBPβ the regulates *PTENpg1 asRNA*.
- C/EBPβ is a major regulator of its own and its antisense transcript, C/EBPβ-AS.
 C/EBPβ-AS inhibits C/EBPβs positive feedback-loop by mediating epigenetic changes at the C/EBPβ promoter.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In memory of my principal supervisor, professor Dan Grandér:

This is not how our story was supposed to end. I was suppose to defend my thesis with you at me side. Then, at the party you would have started dancing at a too timely hour for my taste. I can just imagine it, your tiny dance moves and you with the biggest smile on your face. After we had gone our separated ways, we would have remained friends and as we always talked about, one day you would visit me in Iceland, although I had warned you that we might have to leave the city and experience "nature".

Before my Phd studies I had decided that I would aim to find a kind supervisor otherwise it would not be worth it. With Danne that was exactly what I got. I was never questioned about my working hours or that I was somehow not performing at my job. If my experiments would fail, he would simply say "sometimes the magic works and sometimes it doesn't". It was no one to blame and not my fault. Many of his master and bachelor students describe Danne as one of their best teachers – his lectures were supposedly something to witness. However, for us, his phd students, this is not how Danne taught us. To us he would not lecture or tell us what to do (maybe we should already know). Of course he would guide us in the right direction but first of all he would sit back, listen, and observe how we would tackle projects. Easy as is sounds this can be very difficult. You will have to come in terms with your own abilities and limitations and at times, that can be challenging and disappointing. I think this is what Danne thought of as the essence of the highest education possible - YOU should be able to ask and answer questions that have not been answered before.

Coming to your apartment that day, it was nice to see that you were surrounded by so many loved ones. I had been told I should not expect you to reach out to me. As soon as I walked into your room, you knew I was there. I told you my PhD application had been accepted and you said that you thought that you would not be able to be there for me. I know how difficult it was for you to tell me but at that point I already knew. You also asked about the manuscript and how it was progressing at the lab. At your last fighting moments, you were still concerned about the lab and still wanting for me to exceed. I held your hand and we said our last good-bye. The next day you were released from your pain.

Everyday Danne would come into the lab after a long day of meetings, sometimes, I think, just to hang out. It was his favorite part of the working day. This is, of course, my interpretation. Maybe he really was enjoying those thousands of meetings. He would kick off his shoes and place his feet on Iryna's chair. I would ask how the day was and I always got the same sarcastic answer; "I barely survived". Ironically through out the years the question and the answer would remain the same but with very different meanings. We, the students, and Danne would talk about science or more importantly, life - like the time Danne won a brand new SAAB in a slogan competition or his dream to move to Tel Aviv. We would also complain about tiny things; like the Swedish weather (except me, I moved south), why Danne would stare at us for such a long time or why he would place his feet on our chair. Those

were the days and little did we know. In the next few years, us sitting in this tiny office were about to experience some of life's "unfairs". It was my turn. My saddest day came and it broke my heart. Later, my colleges also had their moments, some overcame them and some are still overcoming them. Danne's "unfair" was however too great of a challenge and it truly saddens me that he was not given more time.

When I visited you at the hospital early September, we had a talked about some of those "unfairs". I said that in light of all of the "unfairs" going on that my Phd was not important. You quickly pointed out that it was – it was important to me. We talked about the future. You wanted to know what were my plans and told me that I could do whatever I aspired to. We also talked about my kids and how guilty I felt picking them up late from school and you gave me some parenting advice. Sweet moments like these I will treasure.

This is how it was being Danne's student. He would kindly listen to everything you had to say. He would somehow draw up a clear picture and often see things in a very different light. On occasions I would also get mad at him, so mad. I would wait for him to come in and I would confront him. However, things were usually solved within minutes and just the look on his face would make it impossible to be angry with him. He would never do anything intentionally to hurt you. There was always some simple explanation or he viewed a situation very differently.

I really started to miss our conversation when you stopped coming to the lab and I so wanted to explain my project to you. I realize now I made a mistake; I thought you should concentrate on getting better and I would help you out by running my projects. I did not understand why you came to the lab everyday, although we talked about it, there was no point in sitting at home feeling sorry for yourself. Why not travel or stay in Tel Aviv? At the time I didn't understand that everyday life is sometimes your only way to feel remotely "normal" while struggling extraordinary situations. I'm sorry I realized so late.

Danne, I have been privileged to be your student and a friend. You have taught me how to be a better person and a scientist. Thank you from the bottom of my heart. I will truly miss you.

Yours, Linda

I wish to express my gratitude to the following people that have helped me out through out the years:

To my supervisors;

Per, your drive and motivation for science is amazing. You are an endless resource for new experiments and every time equally optimistic that they will work out. In science it feels like you are always one step ahead of me and therefore it is nice to have you involved in my projects. I could always count on you to stand up for me or advise me on work related matters. Most of all, thank you for being a friend, your sense of humor and your attentive personality has made this Phd so much easier.

Katja, thank you for "adopting" me at these strange times. I don't know how you keep so strong but you are doing a great job in keeping all of us focused. I would not have been able to write this thesis without you. I'm very thankful for all of your effort in the last few months. Stort kram!

Weng-Onn, for always welcoming any of my questions and especially for your efforts in the last couple of months.

To my students;

Rita, Rita, Rita, Rita, talented and sweet -I'm so jealous of the lab that will get you as a Phd student - lucky them!

Inga (looking forward to the Inga-Linda lab in Iceland) and Lena.

To the past and present member of the Dan Grandér group;

Lotte, for all of our talks and especially your parenting advise.

Matheus (Matti), where would we be without you, your jokes and enthusiasm for a lot of strange things - the moist restaurant, the glass blower, the Tecan, the conspiracy theory about Skedda...

Elin, min bästis and my one and only NERF gun teammate. You are the clue to the "moist" group.

Sander, if we would not be scientist we would be choreographers for musicals. And yes of course you get your name here; I will also throw in Elisabeth.

Vasilios, for all of your help on my projects; the ALL database was awesome.

My sweet Iryna, I have missed you since you left the lab. Thank you for all the support.

Nathan and **Martin**, its been fun observing your honeymoon period. I can just see that Nature paper; *A divine single cell found in murine colon – a case report*.

Other past and present members, Yasmin, Caroline, Jason, Mikael, Tiago and Santiago.

To my collaborators and other colleges;

Olle Sangfelt and crew, for all the lunch meetings, midsommar lunches and kick-offs. Thank you **Aldwin** for our collaboration.

The Johan Hansson group, especially Alireza, Suzanne, Ishani for our nice collaboration.

My previous supervisor and mentor, Jórunn Eyfjörð

Marianne, for reading over this thesis.

Christos for sharing your protocols and to all the past and present Phd students at CCK.

Also thank you to all the people that keep CCK running.

To my friends and family;

Friends indeed make life better; game nights, skiing trips, weddings, running, dancing, dining and drinking... Thank you!

My siblings, **Þórunn** and **Jónas** for always being there for me.

My daughter, **Kristín**, your extraordinary temperament and your big heart make my every day life so much better. I'm so proud of you. Follow your dreams and dream big. Mamma elskar þig og Benna.

My son, **Benjamín**, your determination and energy is amazing. You brighten up my day and make me smile.

My wonderful **parents** that have always done everything for me.

Lastly, to my husband, **Bjarni**, if you were a song you would be No Limit by 2 Unlimited because there is no no, no no no no no no there's no limit... to how fantastic you are. En að öllu gríni slepptu þá held ég bara að það sé rétt. Takk fyrir allt sem þú gerir fyrir mig og börnin. Betri lífsförunaut er ekki hægt að hugsa sér.

REFERENCES

- 1. Joyce, G.F. Rna Evolution and the Origins of Life. *Nature* **338**, 217-224 (1989).
- 2. Rosenbloom, K.R. et al. ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC Genome Browser: update 2012. *Nucleic Acids Res* **40**, D912-7 (2012).
- 3. Carninci, P. et al. The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. *Science* **309**, 1559-63 (2005).
- 4. Ohno, S. So much "junk" DNA in our genome. *Brookhaven Symp Biol* 23, 366-70 (1972).
- 5. Pennisi, E. Genomics. ENCODE project writes eulogy for junk DNA. *Science* **337**, 1159, 1161 (2012).
- 6. Morris, K.V. & Mattick, J.S. The rise of regulatory RNA. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **15**, 423-437 (2014).
- 7. Mattick, J.S., Amaral, P.P., Dinger, M.E., Mercer, T.R. & Mehler, M.F. RNA regulation of epigenetic processes. *Bioessays* **31**, 51-9 (2009).
- 8. Guttman, M. et al. lincRNAs act in the circuitry controlling pluripotency and differentiation. *Nature* **477**, 295-300 (2011).
- 9. Koziol, M.J. & Rinn, J.L. RNA traffic control of chromatin complexes. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **20**, 142-8 (2010).
- 10. Pandey, R.R. et al. Kcnq1ot1 Antisense Noncoding RNA Mediates Lineage-Specific Transcriptional Silencing through Chromatin-Level Regulation. *Molecular Cell* **32**, 232-246 (2008).
- 11. Venter, J.C. et al. The sequence of the human genome. *Science* **291**, 1304-51 (2001).
- 12. Lander, E.S. et al. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature* **409**, 860-921 (2001).
- 13. Mouse Genome Sequencing, C. et al. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature* **420**, 520-62 (2002).
- 14. Comings, D.E. The structure and function of chromatin. *Adv Hum Genet* **3**, 237-431 (1972).
- 15. Palazzo, A.F. & Lee, E.S. Non-coding RNA: what is functional and what is junk? *Frontiers in Genetics* **6**(2015).
- 16. Brown, C.J. et al. A gene from the region of the human X inactivation centre is expressed exclusively from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature* **349**, 38-44 (1991).
- 17. Borsani, G. et al. Characterization of a murine gene expressed from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature* **351**, 325-9 (1991).
- 18. Shiraki, T. et al. Cap analysis gene expression for high-throughput analysis of transcriptional starting point and identification of promoter usage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA **100**, 15776-81 (2003).
- 19. Birney, E. et al. Identification and analysis of functional elements in 1% of the human genome by the ENCODE pilot project. *Nature* **447**, 799-816 (2007).
- 20. Djebali, S. et al. Landscape of transcription in human cells. *Nature* **489**, 101-8 (2012).

- 21. Mattick, J.S. The central role of RNA in human development and cognition. *Febs Letters* **585**, 1600-1616 (2011).
- 22. Derrien, T. et al. The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: Analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. *Genome Research* 22, 1775-1789 (2012).
- 23. Iyer, M.K. et al. The landscape of long noncoding RNAs in the human transcriptome. *Nat Genet* **47**, 199-208 (2015).
- 24. McGuire, S. World Cancer Report 2014. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, WHO Press, 2015. *Adv Nutr* **7**, 418-9 (2016).
- 25. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R.A. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* **100**, 57-70 (2000).
- 26. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R.A. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell* **144**, 646-674 (2011).
- 27. Gutschner, T. & Diederichs, S. The hallmarks of cancer A long non-coding RNA point of view. *Rna Biology* **9**, 703-719 (2012).
- 28. Hulstaert, E., Brochez, L., Volders, P.J., Vandesompele, J. & Mestdagh, P. Long noncoding RNAs in cutaneous melanoma: clinical perspectives. *Oncotarget* **8**, 43470-43480 (2017).
- 29. Cummins, D.L. et al. Cutaneous malignant melanoma. *Mayo Clin Proc* **81**, 500-7 (2006).
- 30. Tsao, H., Chin, L., Garraway, L.A. & Fisher, D.E. Melanoma: from mutations to medicine. *Genes Dev* **26**, 1131-55 (2012).
- 31. Braam, K.I. et al. Malignant melanoma as second malignant neoplasm in long-term childhood cancer survivors: A systematic review. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer* **58**, 665-674 (2012).
- 32. Bertolotto, C. et al. A SUMOylation-defective MITF germline mutation predisposes to melanoma and renal carcinoma (vol 480, pg 94, 2011). *Nature* **531**, 126-126 (2016).
- 33. Platz, A., Egyhazi, S., Ringborg, U. & Hansson, J. Human cutaneous melanoma; a review of NRAS and BRAF mutation frequencies in relation to histogenetic subclass and body site. *Mol Oncol* **1**, 395-405 (2008).
- 34. Davies, H. et al. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature* **417**, 949-54 (2002).
- 35. Beadling, C. et al. KIT gene mutations and copy number in melanoma subtypes. *Clin Cancer Res* **14**, 6821-8 (2008).
- 36. Herlyn, M. Human melanoma: development and progression. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **9**, 101-12 (1990).
- 37. Korn, E.L. et al. Meta-analysis of phase II cooperative group trials in metastatic stage IV melanoma to determine progression-free and overall survival benchmarks for future phase II trials. *J Clin Oncol* **26**, 527-34 (2008).
- 38. Bhatia, S., Tykodi, S.S. & Thompson, J.A. Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: An Overview. *Oncology-New York* 23, 488-496 (2009).

- 39. Huguenin, P.U., Kieser, S., Glanzmann, C., Capaul, R. & Lutolf, U.M. Radiotherapy for metastatic carcinomas of the kidney or melanomas: An analysis using palliative end points. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics* **41**, 401-405 (1998).
- 40. Flockhart, R.J. et al. BRAFV600E remodels the melanocyte transcriptome and induces BANCR to regulate melanoma cell migration. *Genome Res* **22**, 1006-14 (2012).
- 41. Bao, L.D. Long Non-Coding RNA BANCR Promotes Proliferation in Malignant Melanoma by Regulating MAPK Pathway Activation (vol 9, e100893, 2014). *Plos One* **10**(2015).
- 42. Leucci, E. et al. Melanoma addiction to the long non-coding RNA SAMMSON. *Nature* **531**, 518-+ (2016).
- 43. Poliseno, L. et al. Deletion of PTENP1 pseudogene in human melanoma. *J Invest Dermatol* **131**, 2497-500 (2011).
- 44. Karreth, F.A. et al. In vivo identification of tumor- suppressive PTEN ceRNAs in an oncogenic BRAF-induced mouse model of melanoma. *Cell* **147**, 382-95 (2011).
- 45. Knudson, A.G. Mutation and Cancer Statistical Study of Retinoblastoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **68**, 820-& (1971).
- 46. Paige, A.J.W. Redefining tumour suppressor genes: exceptions to the two-hit hypothesis. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **60**, 2147-2163 (2003).
- 47. Baker, S.J. et al. P53 Gene-Mutations Occur in Combination with 17p Allelic Deletions as Late Events in Colorectal Tumorigenesis. *Cancer Research* **50**, 7717-7722 (1990).
- 48. Kastenhuber, E.R. & Lowe, S.W. Putting p53 in Context. *Cell* **170**, 1062-1078 (2017).
- 49. Miki, Y. et al. A Strong Candidate for the Breast and Ovarian-Cancer Susceptibility Gene Brca1. *Science* **266**, 66-71 (1994).
- 50. Wooster, R. et al. Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2 (vol 378, pg 789, 1995). *Nature* **379**, 749-749 (1996).
- 51. Tavtigian, S.V. et al. The complete BRCA2 gene and mutations in chromosome 13qlinked kindreds. *Nature Genetics* **12**, 333-337 (1996).
- 52. Sigurdsson, S. et al. BRCA2 mutation in Icelandic prostate cancer patients. *Journal of Molecular Medicine-Jmm* **75**, 758-761 (1997).
- 53. Martin, G.S. The hunting of the Src. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 467-75 (2001).
- 54. Kuzyk, A. & Mai, S. c-MYC-induced genomic instability. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* **4**, a014373 (2014).
- 55. Bos, J.L. ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. *Cancer Res* **49**, 4682-9 (1989).
- 56. Takashima, A. & Faller, D.V. Targeting the RAS oncogene. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* **17**, 507-31 (2013).
- 57. Li, J. et al. PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. *Science* **275**, 1943-1947 (1997).

- 58. Steck, P.A. et al. Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. *Nature Genetics* **15**, 356-362 (1997).
- 59. Liaw, D. et al. Germline mutations of the PTEN gene in Cowden disease, an inherited breast and thyroid cancer syndrome. *Nature Genetics* **16**, 64-67 (1997).
- 60. Song, M.S., Salmena, L. & Pandolfi, P.P. The functions and regulation of the PTEN tumour suppressor. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **13**, 283-296 (2012).
- 61. Alimonti, A. et al. Subtle variations in Pten dose determine cancer susceptibility. *Nature Genetics* **42**, 454-U136 (2010).
- 62. Patel, L. et al. Tumor suppressor and anti-inflammatory actions of PPARgamma agonists are mediated via upregulation of PTEN. *Curr Biol* **11**, 764-8 (2001).
- 63. Stambolic, V. et al. Regulation of PTEN transcription by p53. *Mol Cell* **8**, 317-25 (2001).
- 64. Virolle, T. et al. The Egr-1 transcription factor directly activates PTEN during irradiation-induced signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* **3**, 1124-8 (2001).
- 65. Hettinger, K. et al. c-Jun promotes cellular survival by suppression of PTEN. *Cell Death Differ* **14**, 218-29 (2007).
- 66. Kang, Y.H., Lee, H.S. & Kim, W.H. Promoter methylation and silencing of PTEN in gastric carcinoma. *Lab Invest* **82**, 285-91 (2002).
- 67. Garcia, J.M. et al. Promoter methylation of the PTEN gene is a common molecular change in breast cancer. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **41**, 117-24 (2004).
- 68. Mirmohammadsadegh, A. et al. Epigenetic silencing of the PTEN gene in melanoma. *Cancer Res* **66**, 6546-52 (2006).
- 69. Bartel, D.P. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* **116**, 281-97 (2004).
- 70. Yang, H. et al. MicroRNA expression profiling in human ovarian cancer: miR-214 induces cell survival and cisplatin resistance by targeting PTEN. *Cancer Res* **68**, 425-33 (2008).
- 71. Fu, X., Tian, J., Zhang, L., Chen, Y. & Hao, Q. Involvement of microRNA-93, a new regulator of PTEN/Akt signaling pathway, in regulation of chemotherapeutic drug cisplatin chemosensitivity in ovarian cancer cells. *FEBS Lett* **586**, 1279-86 (2012).
- 72. Lou, Y., Yang, X., Wang, F., Cui, Z. & Huang, Y. MicroRNA-21 promotes the cell proliferation, invasion and migration abilities in ovarian epithelial carcinomas through inhibiting the expression of PTEN protein. *Int J Mol Med* **26**, 819-27 (2010).
- 73. Ke, T.W., Wei, P.L., Yeh, K.T., Chen, W.T. & Cheng, Y.W. MiR-92a Promotes Cell Metastasis of Colorectal Cancer Through PTEN-Mediated PI3K/AKT Pathway. *Ann Surg Oncol* **22**, 2649-55 (2015).
- 74. Silva, A. et al. PTEN posttranslational inactivation and hyperactivation of the PI3K/Akt pathway sustain primary T cell leukemia viability. *J Clin Invest* **118**, 3762-74 (2008).
- 75. Nakahata, S. et al. Loss of NDRG2 expression activates PI3K-AKT signalling via PTEN phosphorylation in ATLL and other cancers. *Nat Commun* **5**, 3393 (2014).

- 76. Leslie, N.R. et al. Redox regulation of PI 3-kinase signalling via inactivation of PTEN. *EMBO J* 22, 5501-10 (2003).
- 77. Okumura, K. et al. PCAF modulates PTEN activity. J Biol Chem 281, 26562-8 (2006).
- 78. Bermudez Brito, M., Goulielmaki, E. & Papakonstanti, E.A. Focus on PTEN Regulation. *Front Oncol* **5**, 166 (2015).
- 79. Martini, M., De Santis, M.C., Braccini, L., Gulluni, F. & Hirsch, E. PI3K/AKT signaling pathway and cancer: an updated review. *Annals of Medicine* **46**, 372-383 (2014).
- 80. Vanhaesebroeck, B. et al. Synthesis and function of 3-phosphorylated inositol lipids. *Annu Rev Biochem* **70**, 535-602 (2001).
- 81. Maehama, T. & Dixon, J.E. The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 13375-8 (1998).
- Manning, B.D. & Cantley, L.C. AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. *Cell* 129, 1261-74 (2007).
- 83. Leslie, N.R. & Downes, C.P. PTEN function: how normal cells control it and tumour cells lose it. *Biochem J* **382**, 1-11 (2004).
- 84. Wan, P.T. et al. Mechanism of activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. *Cell* **116**, 855-67 (2004).
- 85. Pollock, P.M. et al. High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. *Nat Genet* **33**, 19-20 (2003).
- 86. Wellbrock, C. et al. V599EB-RAF is an oncogene in melanocytes. *Cancer Res* **64**, 2338-42 (2004).
- 87. Hingorani, S.R., Jacobetz, M.A., Robertson, G.P., Herlyn, M. & Tuveson, D.A. Suppression of BRAF(V599E) in human melanoma abrogates transformation. *Cancer Res* **63**, 5198-202 (2003).
- 88. Hoeflich, K.P. et al. Oncogenic BRAF is required for tumor growth and maintenance in melanoma models. *Cancer Res* **66**, 999-1006 (2006).
- 89. Fecher, L.A., Amaravadi, R.K. & Flaherty, K.T. The MAPK pathway in melanoma. *Curr Opin Oncol* **20**, 183-9 (2008).
- 90. Cobb, M.H. MAP kinase pathways. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* **71**, 479-500 (1999).
- 91. Leevers, S.J., Paterson, H.F. & Marshall, C.J. Requirement for Ras in Raf Activation Is Overcome by Targeting Raf to the Plasma-Membrane. *Nature* **369**, 411-414 (1994).
- 92. Howe, L.R. et al. Activation of the Map Kinase Pathway by the Protein-Kinase Raf. *Cell* **71**, 335-342 (1992).
- 93. Dougherty, M.K. et al. Regulation of Raf-1 by direct feedback phosphorylation. *Mol Cell* **17**, 215-24 (2005).
- 94. Douville, E. & Downward, J. EGF induced SOS phosphorylation in PC12 cells involves P90 RSK-2. *Oncogene* **15**, 373-83 (1997).

- 95. Flaherty, K.T. et al. Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* **363**, 809-19 (2010).
- 96. Sosman, J.A. et al. Survival in BRAF V600-Mutant Advanced Melanoma Treated with Vemurafenib. *New England Journal of Medicine* **366**, 707-714 (2012).
- 97. Liu, D.X., Liu, X. & Xing, M.Z. Activities of multiple cancer-related pathways are associated with BRAF mutation and predict the resistance to BRAF/MEK inhibitors in melanoma cells. *Cell Cycle* **13**, 208-219 (2014).
- 98. Roller, D.G. et al. Combinatorial drug screening and molecular profiling reveal diverse mechanisms of intrinsic and adaptive resistance to BRAF inhibition in V600E BRAF mutant melanomas. *Oncotarget* **7**, 2734-2753 (2016).
- 99. Paraiso, K.H. et al. PTEN loss confers BRAF inhibitor resistance to melanoma cells through the suppression of BIM expression. *Cancer Res* **71**, 2750-60 (2011).
- 100. Poulikakos, P.I., Zhang, C., Bollag, G., Shokat, K.M. & Rosen, N. RAF inhibitors transactivate RAF dimers and ERK signalling in cells with wild-type BRAF. *Nature* **464**, 427-30 (2010).
- 101. Greger, J.G. et al. Combinations of BRAF, MEK, and PI3K/mTOR inhibitors overcome acquired resistance to the BRAF inhibitor GSK2118436 dabrafenib, mediated by NRAS or MEK mutations. *Mol Cancer Ther* **11**, 909-20 (2012).
- 102. Johannessen, C.M. et al. COT drives resistance to RAF inhibition through MAP kinase pathway reactivation. *Nature* **468**, 968-72 (2010).
- 103. Sebastian, T. & Johnson, P.F. Stop and go: anti-proliferative and mitogenic functions of the transcription factor C/EBPbeta. *Cell Cycle* **5**, 953-7 (2006).
- 104. Tsukada, J., Yoshida, Y., Kominato, Y. & Auron, P.E. The CCAAT/enhancer (C/EBP) family of basic-leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factors is a multifaceted highly-regulated system for gene regulation. *Cytokine* **54**, 6-19 (2011).
- 105. Osada, S., Yamamoto, H., Nishihara, T. & Imagawa, M. DNA binding specificity of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein transcription factor family. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **271**, 3891-3896 (1996).
- Mahony, S., Auron, P.E. & Benos, P.V. DNA familial binding profiles made easy: Comparison of various motif alignment and clustering strategies. *Plos Computational Biology* 3, 578-591 (2007).
- 107. Zahnow, C.A. CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta: its role in breast cancer and associations with receptor tyrosine kinases. *Expert Rev Mol Med* **11**, e12 (2009).
- 108. Miller, M. Interactions of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta with transcriptional coregulators. *Postepy Biochem* **62**, 343-348 (2016).
- 109. Kowenz-Leutz, E. & Leutz, A. A C/EBP beta isoform recruits the SWI/SNF complex to activate myeloid genes. *Molecular Cell* **4**, 735-743 (1999).
- 110. Eaton, E.M. & Sealy, L. Modification of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein-beta by the small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) family members, SUMO-2 and SUMO-3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**, 33416-33421 (2003).
- Bahar Halpern, K., Vana, T. & Walker, M.D. Paradoxical role of DNA methylation in activation of FoxA2 gene expression during endoderm development. *J Biol Chem* 289, 23882-92 (2014).

- 112. Niesen, M.I. et al. Activation of a methylated promoter mediated by a sequencespecific DNA-binding protein, RFX. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 38914-22 (2005).
- 113. Irizarry, R.A. et al. The human colon cancer methylome shows similar hypo- and hypermethylation at conserved tissue-specific CpG island shores. *Nat Genet* **41**, 178-186 (2009).
- 114. Mann, I.K. et al. CG methylated microarrays identify a novel methylated sequence bound by the CEBPB|ATF4 heterodimer that is active in vivo. *Genome Res* **23**, 988-97 (2013).
- 115. Rishi, V. et al. CpG methylation of half-CRE sequences creates C/EBPalpha binding sites that activate some tissue-specific genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 20311-6 (2010).
- 116. Sebastian, T., Malik, R., Thomas, S., Sage, J. & Johnson, P.F. C/EBP beta cooperates with RB : E2F to implement Ras(V12)-induced cellular senescence. *Embo Journal* **24**, 3301-3312 (2005).
- 117. Kuilman, T. et al. Oncogene-induced senescence relayed by an interleukin-dependent inflammatory network. *Cell* **133**, 1019-1031 (2008).
- Sebastian, T. & Johnson, P.F. RasV12-mediated down-regulation of CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta in immortalized fibroblasts requires loss of p19Arf and facilitates bypass of oncogene-induced senescence. *Cancer Res* 69, 2588-98 (2009).
- 119. Zhu, S., Yoon, K., Sterneck, E., Johnson, P.F. & Smart, R.C. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-beta is a mediator of keratinocyte survival and skin tumorigenesis involving oncogenic Ras signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 207-12 (2002).
- 120. Zahnow, C.A. CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins in normal mammary development and breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res* **4**, 113-21 (2002).
- 121. Bundy, L.M. & Sealy, L. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta (C/EBPbeta)-2 transforms normal mammary epithelial cells and induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition in culture. *Oncogene* **22**, 869-83 (2003).
- Kim, M.H. & Fields, J. Translationally regulated C/EBP beta isoform expression upregulates metastatic genes in hormone-independent prostate cancer cells. *Prostate* 68, 1362-71 (2008).
- 123. Kim, M.H., Minton, A.Z. & Agrawal, V. C/EBPbeta regulates metastatic gene expression and confers TNF-alpha resistance to prostate cancer cells. *Prostate* **69**, 1435-47 (2009).
- 124. Carro, M.S. et al. The transcriptional network for mesenchymal transformation of brain tumours. *Nature* **463**, 318-25 (2010).
- 125. Kapranov, P. et al. RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription. *Science* **316**, 1484-1488 (2007).
- 126. Villegas, V.E. & Zaphiropoulos, P.G. Neighboring gene regulation by antisense long non-coding RNAs. *Int J Mol Sci* **16**, 3251-66 (2015).
- 127. Hezroni, H. et al. Principles of long noncoding RNA evolution derived from direct comparison of transcriptomes in 17 species. *Cell Rep* **11**, 1110-22 (2015).

- 128. Johnsson, P., Lipovich, L., Grander, D. & Morris, K.V. Evolutionary conservation of long non-coding RNAs; sequence, structure, function. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1840**, 1063-71 (2014).
- 129. Wilusz, J.E. et al. A triple helix stabilizes the 3 ' ends of long noncoding RNAs that lack poly(A) tails. *Genes & Development* **26**, 2392-2407 (2012).
- 130. Ilik, I.A. et al. Tandem Stem-Loops in roX RNAs Act Together to Mediate X Chromosome Dosage Compensation in Drosophila. *Molecular Cell* **51**, 156-173 (2013).
- 131. Somarowthu, S. et al. HOTAIR forms an intricate and modular secondary structure. *Mol Cell* **58**, 353-61 (2015).
- 132. Rivas, E., Clements, J. & Eddy, S.R. A statistical test for conserved RNA structure shows lack of evidence for structure in lncRNAs. *Nature Methods* **14**, 45-48 (2017).
- 133. Ulitsky, I. Evolution to the rescue: using comparative genomics to understand long non-coding RNAs. *Nat Rev Genet* **17**, 601-14 (2016).
- 134. Chen, L.L. Linking Long Noncoding RNA Localization and Function. *Trends Biochem Sci* **41**, 761-72 (2016).
- 135. Willingham, A.T. et al. A strategy for probing the function of noncoding RNAs finds a repressor of NFAT. *Science* **309**, 1570-3 (2005).
- 136. Damas, N.D. et al. SNHG5 promotes colorectal cancer cell survival by counteracting STAU1-mediated mRNA destabilization. *Nat Commun* **7**, 13875 (2016).
- 137. Gong, C.G. & Maquat, L.E. lncRNAs transactivate STAU1-mediated mRNA decay by duplexing with 3 ' UTRs via Alu elements. *Nature* **470**, 284-+ (2011).
- 138. Hacisuleyman, E. et al. Topological organization of multichromosomal regions by the long intergenic noncoding RNA Firre. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **21**, 198-206 (2014).
- 139. Hasegawa, Y. et al. The Matrix Protein hnRNP U Is Required for Chromosomal Localization of Xist RNA. *Developmental Cell* **19**, 469-476 (2010).
- 140. Chen, L.L. Ling-Ling Chen: Linking Long Noncoding RNA Processing and Function to RNA Biology. *Trends Biochem Sci* **41**, 733-4 (2016).
- 141. Poliseno, L. et al. A coding-independent function of gene and pseudogene mRNAs regulates tumour biology. *Nature* **465**, 1033-8 (2010).
- 142. Cabili, M.N. et al. Integrative annotation of human large intergenic noncoding RNAs reveals global properties and specific subclasses. *Genes & Development* **25**, 1915-1927 (2011).
- 143. Kiyosawa, H. et al. Antisense transcripts with FANTOM2 clone set and their implications for gene regulation. *Genome Research* **13**, 1324-1334 (2003).
- 144. Yelin, R. et al. Widespread occurrence of antisense transcription in the human genome. *Nature Biotechnology* **21**, 379-386 (2003).
- 145. Brantl, S. Regulatory mechanisms employed by cis-encoded antisense RNAs. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **10**, 102-109 (2007).
- 146. Brown, C.J. et al. The Human Xist Gene Analysis of a 17 Kb Inactive X-Specific Rna That Contains Conserved Repeats and Is Highly Localized within the Nucleus. *Cell* **71**, 527-542 (1992).

- 147. Wutz, A., Rasmussen, T.P. & Jaenisch, R. Chromosomal silencing and localization are mediated by different domains of Xist RNA. *Nature Genetics* **30**, 167-174 (2002).
- 148. Froberg, J.E., Yang, L. & Lee, J.T. Guided by RNAs: X-Inactivation as a Model for IncRNA Function. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **425**, 3698-3706 (2013).
- 149. Lee, J.T., Davidow, L.S. & Warshawsky, D. Tsix, a gene antisense to Xist at the Xinactivation centre. *Nature Genetics* **21**, 400-404 (1999).
- 150. Zhao, J., Sun, B.K., Erwin, J.A., Song, J.J. & Lee, J.T. Polycomb Proteins Targeted by a Short Repeat RNA to the Mouse X Chromosome. *Science* **322**, 750-756 (2008).
- 151. Sun, B.K., Deaton, A.M. & Lee, J.T. A transient heterochromatic state in Xist preempts X inactivation choice without RNA stabilization. *Molecular Cell* **21**, 617-628 (2006).
- 152. Sun, S. et al. Jpx RNA activates Xist by evicting CTCF. Cell 153, 1537-51 (2013).
- 153. Baker, J., Liu, J.P., Robertson, E.J. & Efstratiadis, A. Role of Insulin-Like Growth-Factors in Embryonic and Postnatal-Growth. *Cell* **75**, 73-82 (1993).
- 154. Barlow, D.P., Stoger, R., Herrmann, B.G., Saito, K. & Schweifer, N. The Mouse Insulin-Like Growth-Factor Type-2 Receptor Is Imprinted and Closely Linked to the Tme Locus. *Nature* **349**, 84-87 (1991).
- 155. Wang, Z.Q., Fung, M.R., Barlow, D.P. & Wagner, E.F. Regulation of Embryonic Growth and Lysosomal Targeting by the Imprinted Igf2/Mpr Gene. *Nature* **372**, 464-467 (1994).
- 156. Sleutels, F., Zwart, R. & Barlow, D.P. The non-coding Air RNA is required for silencing autosomal imprinted genes. *Nature* **415**, 810-813 (2002).
- 157. Lyle, R. et al. The imprinted antisense RNA at the Igf2r locus overlaps but does not imprint Mas1. *Nat Genet* **25**, 19-21 (2000).
- 158. Nagano, T. et al. The Air noncoding RNA epigenetically silences transcription by targeting G9a to chromatin. *Science* **322**, 1717-20 (2008).
- 159. Latos, P.A. et al. Airn transcriptional overlap, but not its lncRNA products, induces imprinted Igf2r silencing. *Science* **338**, 1469-72 (2012).
- 160. Lowe, S.W. & Sherr, C.J. Tumor suppression by Ink4a-Arf: progress and puzzles. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* **13**, 77-83 (2003).
- 161. Gil, J. & Peters, G. Regulation of the INK4b-ARF-INK4a tumour suppressor locus: all for one or one for all. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **7**, 667-677 (2006).
- 162. Pasmant, E. et al. Characterization of a germ-line deletion, including the entire INK4/ARF locus, in a melanoma-neural system tumor family: identification of ANRIL, an antisense noncoding RNA whose expression coclusters with ARF. *Cancer Res* 67, 3963-9 (2007).
- 163. Yap, K.L. et al. Molecular Interplay of the Noncoding RNA ANRIL and Methylated Histone H3 Lysine 27 by Polycomb CBX7 in Transcriptional Silencing of INK4a. *Molecular Cell* **38**, 662-674 (2010).
- 164. Sarkar, D. et al. Multiple Isoforms of ANRIL in Melanoma Cells: Structural Complexity Suggests Variations in Processing. *Int J Mol Sci* **18**(2017).

- 165. Holdt, L.M. et al. Circular non-coding RNA ANRIL modulates ribosomal RNA maturation and atherosclerosis in humans. *Nat Commun* 7, 12429 (2016).
- 166. Burd, C.E. et al. Expression of linear and novel circular forms of an INK4/ARFassociated non-coding RNA correlates with atherosclerosis risk. *PLoS Genet* **6**, e1001233 (2010).
- 167. Holdt, L.M. et al. Alu Elements in ANRIL Non-Coding RNA at Chromosome 9p21 Modulate Atherogenic Cell Functions through Trans-Regulation of Gene Networks. *Plos Genetics* 9(2013).
- 168. Mahmoudi, S. et al. Wrap53, a natural p53 antisense transcript required for p53 induction upon DNA damage. *Mol Cell* **33**, 462-71 (2009).
- 169. Saldana-Meyer, R. et al. CTCF regulates the human p53 gene through direct interaction with its natural antisense transcript, Wrap53. *Genes Dev* 28, 723-34 (2014).
- 170. Rinn, J.L. et al. Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. *Cell* **129**, 1311-23 (2007).
- 171. Khalil, A.M. et al. Many human large intergenic noncoding RNAs associate with chromatin-modifying complexes and affect gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 11667-72 (2009).
- 172. Sharma, S. et al. Bridging Links between Long Noncoding RNA HOTAIR and HPV Oncoprotein E7 in Cervical Cancer Pathogenesis. *Scientific Reports* **5**(2015).
- 173. Tsai, M.C. et al. Long Noncoding RNA as Modular Scaffold of Histone Modification Complexes. *Science* **329**, 689-693 (2010).
- 174. Gupta, R.A. et al. Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis. *Nature* **464**, 1071-6 (2010).
- 175. Chen, W.M. et al. HOX transcript antisense intergenic RNA represses E-cadherin expression by binding to EZH2 in gastric cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* **23**, 6100-6110 (2017).
- 176. Chen, F.J. et al. Upregulation of the long non-coding RNA HOTAIR promotes esophageal squamous cell carcinoma metastasis and poor prognosis. *Mol Carcinog* **52**, 908-15 (2013).
- 177. Luo, Z.F. et al. Clinical significance of HOTAIR expression in colon cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 22, 5254-9 (2016).
- 178. Liu, Y.W. et al. LincHOTAIR epigenetically silences miR34a by binding to PRC2 to promote the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human gastric cancer. *Cell Death Dis* **6**, e1802 (2015).
- 179. Ji, P. et al. MALAT-1, a novel noncoding RNA, and thymosin beta 4 predict metastasis and survival in early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncogene* **22**, 8031-8041 (2003).
- 180. Lin, R., Maeda, S., Liu, C., Karin, M. & Edgington, T.S. A large noncoding RNA is a marker for murine hepatocellular carcinomas and a spectrum of human carcinomas. *Oncogene* **26**, 851-858 (2007).

- 181. Tripathi, V. et al. The Nuclear-Retained Noncoding RNA MALAT1 Regulates Alternative Splicing by Modulating SR Splicing Factor Phosphorylation. *Molecular Cell* **39**, 925-938 (2010).
- 182. Gutschner, T. et al. The noncoding RNA MALAT1 is a critical regulator of the metastasis phenotype of lung cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **73**, 1180-9 (2013).
- 183. Yang, L.Q. et al. ncRNA- and Pc2 Methylation-Dependent Gene Relocation between Nuclear Structures Mediates Gene Activation Programs. *Cell* **147**, 773-788 (2011).
- 184. Yoon, J.H. et al. LincRNA-p21 Suppresses Target mRNA Translation. *Molecular Cell* **47**, 648-655 (2012).
- 185. Moises, J. et al. Lincrna-P21 Impacts Prognosis In Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Adenocarcinoma Patients. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* **193**(2016).
- 186. Chen, Y. et al. Down regulation of lincRNA-p21 contributes to gastric cancer development through Hippo-independent activation of YAP. *Oncotarget* **8**, 63813-63824 (2017).
- 187. Wang, X.H. et al. Long intragenic non-coding RNA lincRNA-p21 suppresses development of human prostate cancer. *Cell Proliferation* **50**(2017).
- 188. Kozomara, A. & Griffiths-Jones, S. miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deep-sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Research* **39**, D152-D157 (2011).
- 189. Friedlander, M.R. et al. Evidence for the biogenesis of more than 1,000 novel human microRNAs. *Genome Biol* **15**, R57 (2014).
- 190. Lee, Y. et al. MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. *EMBO J* 23, 4051-60 (2004).
- Lee, Y. et al. The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. *Nature* 425, 415-9 (2003).
- 192. Hutvagner, G. et al. A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. *Science* **293**, 834-8 (2001).
- 193. Ketting, R.F. et al. Dicer functions in RNA interference and in synthesis of small RNA involved in developmental timing in C. elegans. *Genes Dev* **15**, 2654-9 (2001).
- 194. Hammond, S.M., Boettcher, S., Caudy, A.A., Kobayashi, R. & Hannon, G.J. Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. *Science* 293, 1146-1150 (2001).
- 195. Lewis, B.P., Burge, C.B. & Bartel, D.P. Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. *Cell* **120**, 15-20 (2005).
- 196. Friedman, R.C., Farh, K.K.H., Burge, C.B. & Bartel, D.P. Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Research* **19**, 92-105 (2009).
- 197. Yan, B.X. & Ma, J.X. Promoter-associated RNAs and promoter-targeted RNAs. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **69**, 2833-42 (2012).
- 198. Seila, A.C. et al. Divergent transcription from active promoters. *Science* **322**, 1849-51 (2008).

- 199. Core, L.J., Waterfall, J.J. & Lis, J.T. Nascent RNA Sequencing Reveals Widespread Pausing and Divergent Initiation at Human Promoters. *Science* **322**, 1845-1848 (2008).
- 200. Taft, R.J. et al. Tiny RNAs associated with transcription start sites in animals. *Nat Genet* **41**, 572-8 (2009).
- 201. Taft, R.J., Kaplan, C.D., Simons, C. & Mattick, J.S. Evolution, biogenesis and function of promoter-associated RNAs. *Cell Cycle* **8**, 2332-8 (2009).
- 202. Taft, R.J., Hawkins, P.G., Mattick, J.S. & Morris, K.V. The relationship between transcription initiation RNAs and CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF) localization. *Epigenetics Chromatin* **4**, 13 (2011).
- 203. Preker, P. et al. RNA exosome depletion reveals transcription upstream of active human promoters. *Science* **322**, 1851-4 (2008).
- 204. Affymetrix, E.T.P. & Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, E.T.P. Post-transcriptional processing generates a diversity of 5'-modified long and short RNAs. *Nature* **457**, 1028-32 (2009).
- 205. Davis, C.A. & Ares, M. Accumulation of unstable promoter-associated transcripts upon loss of the nuclear exosome subunit Rrp6p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 3262-3267 (2006).
- 206. Imamura, T. et al. Non-coding RNA directed DNA demethylation of Sphk1 CpG island. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **322**, 593-600 (2004).
- 207. Berretta, J., Pinskaya, M. & Morillon, A. A cryptic unstable transcript mediates transcriptional trans-silencing of the Ty1 retrotransposon in S. cerevisiae. *Genes & Development* 22, 615-626 (2008).
- 208. Han, J., Kim, D. & Morris, K.V. Promoter-associated RNA is required for RNAdirected transcriptional gene silencing in human cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**, 12422-12427 (2007).
- 209. Hawkins, P.G. & Morris, K.V. Transcriptional regulation of Oct4 by a long noncoding RNA antisense to Oct4-pseudogene 5. *Transcription* **1**, 165-175 (2010).
- 210. Pei, B. et al. The GENCODE pseudogene resource. *Genome Biol* 13, R51 (2012).
- 211. Kim, M.S. et al. A draft map of the human proteome. *Nature* 509, 575-+ (2014).
- 212. Torrents, D., Suyama, M., Zdobnov, E. & Bork, P. A genome-wide survey of human pseudogenes. *Genome Res* 13, 2559-67 (2003).
- 213. D'Errico, I., Gadaleta, G. & Saccone, C. Pseudogenes in metazoa: origin and features. *Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic* **3**, 157-67 (2004).
- 214. Salmena, L. Pseudogene redux with new biological significance. *Methods Mol Biol* **1167**, 3-13 (2014).
- 215. Tsao, H., Goel, V., Wu, H., Yang, G. & Haluska, F.G. Genetic interaction between NRAS and BRAF mutations and PTEN/MMAC1 inactivation in melanoma. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **122**, 337-341 (2004).
- 216. Poliseno, L. et al. Deletion of PTENP1 Pseudogene in Human Melanoma. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **131**, 2497-2500 (2011).

- 217. Yu, G. et al. Pseudogene PTENP1 Functions as a Competing Endogenous RNA to Suppress Clear-Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma Progression. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* **13**, 3086-3097 (2014).
- 218. Zou, M.J. et al. Oncogenic Activation of MAP Kinase by BRAF Pseudogene in Thyroid Tumors. *Neoplasia* **11**, 57-65 (2009).
- 219. Kalyana-Sundaram, S. et al. Expressed Pseudogenes in the Transcriptional Landscape of Human Cancers. *Cell* **149**, 1622-1634 (2012).
- 220. Karreth, F.A. et al. The BRAF Pseudogene Functions as a Competitive Endogenous RNA and Induces Lymphoma In Vivo. *Cell* **161**, 319-332 (2015).
- 221. Cazalla, D., Yario, T. & Steitz, J. Down-Regulation of a Host MicroRNA by a Herpesvirus saimiri Noncoding RNA. *Science* **328**, 1563-1566 (2010).
- 222. Cesana, M. et al. A Long Noncoding RNA Controls Muscle Differentiation by Functioning as a Competing Endogenous RNA (vol 147, pg 358, 2011). *Cell* **147**, 947-947 (2011).
- 223. Franco-Zorrilla, J.M. et al. Target mimicry provides a new mechanism for regulation of microRNA activity. *Nat Genet* **39**, 1033-7 (2007).
- 224. Denzler, R., Agarwal, V., Stefano, J., Bartel, D.P. & Stoffel, M. Assessing the ceRNA Hypothesis with Quantitative Measurements of miRNA and Target Abundance. *Molecular Cell* **54**, 766-776 (2014).
- 225. Bosson, A.D., Zamudio, J.R. & Sharp, P.A. Endogenous miRNA and Target Concentrations Determine Susceptibility to Potential ceRNA Competition. *Molecular Cell* 56, 347-359 (2014).
- 226. Muro, E.M. & Andrade-Navarro, M.A. Pseudogenes as an alternative source of natural antisense transcripts. *Bmc Evolutionary Biology* **10**(2010).
- 227. Zheng, D. et al. Pseudogenes in the ENCODE regions: consensus annotation, analysis of transcription, and evolution. *Genome Res* **17**, 839-51 (2007).
- 228. Zhou, B.S., Beidler, D.R. & Cheng, Y.C. Identification of Antisense Rna Transcripts from a Human DNA Topoisomerase-I Pseudogene. *Cancer Research* **52**, 4280-4285 (1992).
- 229. Weil, D., Power, M.A., Webb, G.C. & Li, C.L. Antisense transcription of a murine FGFR-3 psuedogene during fetal development. *Gene* **187**, 115-22 (1997).
- 230. Korneev, S.A., Park, J.H. & O'Shea, M. Neuronal expression of neural nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) protein is suppressed by an antisense RNA transcribed from an NOS pseudogene. *Journal of Neuroscience* **19**, 7711-7720 (1999).
- 231. Suo, G. et al. Oct4 pseudogenes are transcribed in cancers. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **337**, 1047-51 (2005).
- 232. Tam, O.H. et al. Pseudogene-derived small interfering RNAs regulate gene expression in mouse oocytes. *Nature* **453**, 534-8 (2008).
- 233. Watanabe, T. et al. Endogenous siRNAs from naturally formed dsRNAs regulate transcripts in mouse oocytes. *Nature* **453**, 539-43 (2008).
- Gardiner-Garden, M. & Frommer, M. CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. *J Mol Biol* 196, 261-82 (1987).

- 235. Antequera, F. & Bird, A. CpG islands as genomic footprints of promoters that are associated with replication origins. *Current Biology* **9**, R661-R667 (1999).
- 236. Robertson, K.D. DNA methylation and human disease. *Nat Rev Genet* 6, 597-610 (2005).
- 237. Lister, R. et al. Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. *Nature* **462**, 315-322 (2009).
- 238. Jin, B., Li, Y. & Robertson, K.D. DNA methylation: superior or subordinate in the epigenetic hierarchy? *Genes Cancer* **2**, 607-17 (2011).
- 239. Di Ruscio, A. et al. DNMT1-interacting RNAs block gene-specific DNA methylation. *Nature* **503**, 371-+ (2013).
- 240. Mohammad, F., Mondal, T., Guseva, N., Pandey, G.K. & Kanduri, C. Kcnq1ot1 noncoding RNA mediates transcriptional gene silencing by interacting with Dnmt1. *Development* **137**, 2493-9 (2010).
- 241. Wang, L. et al. LncRNA Dum interacts with Dnmts to regulate Dppa2 expression during myogenic differentiation and muscle regeneration. *Cell Res* **25**, 335-50 (2015).
- 242. Merry, C.R. et al. DNMT1-associated long non-coding RNAs regulate global gene expression and DNA methylation in colon cancer. *Hum Mol Genet* **24**, 6240-53 (2015).
- 243. Okano, M., Bell, D.W., Haber, D.A. & Li, E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. *Cell* **99**, 247-57 (1999).
- 244. Jones, P.A. & Liang, G.N. OPINION Rethinking how DNA methylation patterns are maintained. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **10**, 805-811 (2009).
- 245. Lyko, F. The DNA methyltransferase family: a versatile toolkit for epigenetic regulation. *Nat Rev Genet* (2017).
- 246. Jia, D., Jurkowska, R.Z., Zhang, X., Jeltsch, A. & Cheng, X.D. Structure of Dnmt3a bound to Dnmt3L suggests a model for de novo DNA methylation. *Nature* **449**, 248-U13 (2007).
- 247. Termanis, A. et al. The SNF2 family ATPase LSH promotes cell-autonomous de novo DNA methylation in somatic cells. *Nucleic Acids Research* **44**, 7592-7604 (2016).
- 248. Sado, T., Hoki, Y. & Sasaki, H. Tsix defective in splicing is competent to establish Xist silencing. *Development* **133**, 4925-4931 (2006).
- 249. Cao, R. et al. Role of histone H3 lysine 27 methylation in polycomb-group silencing. *Science* **298**, 1039-1043 (2002).
- 250. Czermin, B. et al. Drosophila enhancer of Zeste/ESC complexes have a histone H3 methyltransferase activity that marks chromosomal polycomb sites. *Cell* **111**, 185-196 (2002).
- 251. Kirmizis, A. et al. Silencing of human polycomb target genes is associated with methylation of histone H3 Lys 27. *Genes & Development* **18**, 1592-1605 (2004).
- 252. Muller, J. & Kassis, J.A. Polycomb response elements and targeting of Polycomb group proteins in Drosophila. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **16**, 476-84 (2006).

- 253. Peng, J.C. et al. Jarid2/Jumonji Coordinates Control of PRC2 Enzymatic Activity and Target Gene Occupancy in Pluripotent Cells. *Cell* **139**, 1290-1302 (2009).
- 254. Vire, E. et al. The Polycomb group protein EZH2 directly controls DNA methylation. *Nature* **439**, 871-4 (2006).
- 255. Klattenhoff, C.A. et al. Braveheart, a Long Noncoding RNA Required for Cardiovascular Lineage Commitment. *Cell* **152**, 570-583 (2013).
- 256. Davidovich, C., Zheng, L., Goodrich, K.J. & Cech, T.R. Promiscuous RNA binding by Polycomb repressive complex 2. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* **20**, 1250-U273 (2013).
- 257. Beltran, M. et al. The interaction of PRC2 with RNA or chromatin is mutually antagonistic. *Genome Research* **26**, 896-907 (2016).
- 258. Kanhere, A. et al. Short RNAs Are Transcribed from Repressed Polycomb Target Genes and Interact with Polycomb Repressive Complex-2. *Molecular Cell* **38**, 675-688 (2010).
- 259. Cifuentes-Rojas, C., Hernandez, A.J., Sarma, K. & Lee, J.T. Regulatory Interactions between RNA and Polycomb Repressive Complex 2. *Molecular Cell* 55, 171-185 (2014).
- 260. Wang, X. et al. Targeting of Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 to RNA by Short Repeats of Consecutive Guanines. *Mol Cell* **65**, 1056-1067 e5 (2017).
- 261. Portoso, M. et al. PRC2 is dispensable for HOTAIR-mediated transcriptional repression. *Embo Journal* **36**, 981-994 (2017).
- 262. Zhou, W. et al. Histone H2A monoubiquitination represses transcription by inhibiting RNA polymerase II transcriptional elongation. *Mol Cell* **29**, 69-80 (2008).
- 263. Mohn, F. et al. Lineage-specific polycomb targets and de novo DNA methylation define restriction and potential of neuronal progenitors. *Mol Cell* **30**, 755-66 (2008).
- 264. Schlesinger, Y. et al. Polycomb-mediated methylation on Lys27 of histone H3 premarks genes for de novo methylation in cancer. *Nat Genet* **39**, 232-6 (2007).
- 265. Ohm, J.E. et al. A stem cell-like chromatin pattern may predispose tumor suppressor genes to DNA hypermethylation and heritable silencing. *Nature Genetics* **39**, 237-242 (2007).
- 266. Mozzetta, C. et al. The histone H3 lysine 9 methyltransferases G9a and GLP regulate polycomb repressive complex 2-mediated gene silencing. *Mol Cell* **53**, 277-89 (2014).
- 267. Saayman, S. et al. An HIV-encoded antisense long noncoding RNA epigenetically regulates viral transcription. *Mol Ther* **22**, 1164-1175 (2014).
- 268. Malecova, B. & Morris, K.V. Transcriptional gene silencing through epigenetic changes mediated by non-coding RNAs. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* **12**, 214-22 (2010).
- 269. Faghihi, M.A. et al. Evidence for natural antisense transcript-mediated inhibition of microRNA function. *Genome Biology* **11**(2010).
- 270. Bernstein, P., Peltz, S.W. & Ross, J. The poly(A)-poly(A)-binding protein complex is a major determinant of mRNA stability in vitro. *Mol Cell Biol* **9**, 659-70 (1989).
- 271. Fuke, H. & Ohno, M. Role of poly (A) tail as an identity element for mRNA nuclear export. *Nucleic Acids Res* **36**, 1037-49 (2008).

- 272. Brodsky, A.S. & Silver, P.A. Pre-mRNA processing factors are required for nuclear export. *RNA* **6**, 1737-49 (2000).
- 273. Napoli, S., Pastori, C., Magistri, M., Carbone, G.M. & Catapano, C.V. Promoterspecific transcriptional interference and c-myc gene silencing by siRNAs in human cells. *EMBO J* 28, 1708-19 (2009).
- 274. Zhou, X.P. et al. Epigenetic PTEN silencing in malignant melanomas without PTEN mutation. *American Journal of Pathology* **157**, 1123-1128 (2000).
- 275. Meir, O., Dvash, E., Werman, A. & Rubinstein, M. C/EBP-beta regulates endoplasmic reticulum stress-triggered cell death in mouse and human models. *PLoS One* **5**, e9516 (2010).
- 276. Barakat, D.J. et al. CCAAT/Enhancer binding protein beta controls androgendeprivation-induced senescence in prostate cancer cells. *Oncogene* **34**, 5912-22 (2015).
- 277. Treda, C. et al. EGFR Activation Leads to Cell Death Independent of PI3K/AKT/mTOR in an AD293 Cell Line. *PLoS One* **11**, e0155230 (2016).